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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF IOWA IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 

 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW 
    
 Plaintiffs,           
v.          
                
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC 
SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.; and DRISS 
CAMMOUN, M.D.            
   
 Defendant. 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
  
 NO.    
 
 
 
 
 

PETITION AT LAW 
 

 
 
 COME NOW the Plaintiffs, and for their cause of action against the  
 
Defendants, state as follows:  
 
                                    PARTIES  
 

1. Plaintiffs William and Elaine McGrew are husband and wife and reside in  

Waterloo, Black Hawk County, Iowa.  

2. Defendant Eromosele Otoadese is a medical doctor who practices in  

Waterloo, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

3. Defendant Northern Iowa Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery Clinic, P.C. is  

an Iowa Professional Corporation that at all times relevant employed Dr. Otoadese.  

4.  Defendant Driss Cammoun is a medical doctor who practices in  

Waterloo, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
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ALLEGATIONS OF FACT 
 

5.  In the summer of 2014, William McGrew began to experience occasional 

foggy vision in his left eye. 

6.  On July 25, 2014, Mr. McGrew went to see an ophthalmologist at Mauer Eye 

Center who found that Mr. McGrew had a cataract that may explain his foggy vision. 

7. However, Dr. Mauer thought it appropriate to first rule out a vascular cause for 

his symptoms, so the doctor ordered a bilateral carotid duplex ultrasound. 

8.  The carotid ultrasound was performed on August 6, 2014 and was interpreted 

by Dr. Mauer to show “mild carotid stenosis” of the arteries. 

9. Dr. Mauer then proceeded to schedule cataract surgery for Mr. McGrew for 

approximately August 20, 2014. 

10.  In the interim, Mr. McGrew was referred by his primary care physician to Dr. 

Otoadese to determine if the problem he was experiencing was due to a vascular 

condition. 

11.  On August 18, 2014, Dr. Otoadese saw Mr. McGrew and ordered a CT 

angiogram. 

12.  The CT angiogram was performed on August 18, 2014 and was interpreted 

by Dr. Cammoun as showing 65% stenosis of the right internal carotid artery.  

13.  Dr. Otoadese then read and interpreted the CT angiogram to show severe 

(at least 70%) stenosis of the right carotid artery. 

14.  Dr. Otoadese was aware of the interpretation of the CT angiogram by Dr. 

Cammoun and relied upon it in deciding whether to recommend surgery.  
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15.  Dr. Otoadese then advised Mr. McGrew to cancel the cataract surgery and 

recommended a right carotid endarterectomy to remove the plaque in that artery. 

16.  Based on the recommendation made by Dr. Otoadese, Mr. McGrew agreed 

to undergo a right carotid endarterectomy. 

17.  The surgery was performed by Dr. Otoadese on September 2, 2014. 

18.  The morning following the procedure, Mr. McGrew awoke with a facial droop 

and weakness on his left side.  

19.  An MRI was performed which showed a stroke on the right side of the brain. 

20.  Dr. Otoadese then returned Mr. McGrew to the operating room in an effort to 

re-vascularize the area, but that effort was not successful. 

21.  The stroke suffered by Mr. McGrew was a direct result of the surgical 

procedure recommended and performed by Dr. Otoadese. 

22.  On September 26, 2014, Mr. McGrew was seen by Dr. Ivo Bekavac, a 

Waterloo neurologist, for a second opinion regarding his condition. 

23.  Dr. Bekavac, who has special training in interpreting imaging related to 

carotid arteries, examined Mr. McGrew and reviewed the pre-surgery imaging, and 

concluded that there was insufficient pre-surgery carotid stenosis to justify the 

September 2, 2014 surgery. 

24.  Dr. Bekavac also concluded that the second surgery was not indicated as 

the symptoms of the stroke had occurred more than 8 hours before.  

25.  Dr. Bekavac then sent the imaging studies to Dr. John Halloran, a Waterloo 

diagnostic radiologist, and asked him to review them to determine whether he concurred 

with Dr. Bekavac’s interpretation of the imaging studies. 
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26.  Dr. Halloran’s review of the pre-surgery imaging confirmed Dr. Bekavac’s 

conclusion that there was not sufficient evidence to justify the recommendation and 

performance of the September 2, 2014 surgery.  

27.  The surgery of September 2, 2014 was an unnecessary surgical procedure 

that unnecessarily placed Mr. McGrew at substantial risk for the stroke that he 

eventually developed.  

28.   The interpretation of the pre-surgery imaging studies by Dr. Cammoun and 

Dr. Otoadese were incorrect, and the decision to recommend surgery by Dr. Otoadese 

was also wrong. 

29.  The Defendants failed to provide that degree of skill, care, and learning 

ordinarily possessed and exercised by other doctors, specialists, and hospitals in similar 

circumstances. 

 30. The Defendants’ conduct constitutes medical negligence and breach of 

fiduciary duty, including lack of informed consent. 

 31.  The conduct of the Defendants was a cause of the injuries and damages 

sustained by Plaintiffs. 

COUNT I 

 1.  Plaintiff William McGrew has sustained harms and losses, including, but not 

limited to, past and future physical and mental pain and suffering, permanent loss of full 

body, medical expenses, future medical expenses and loss of income. 

 2. William McGrew’s damages exceed the jurisdictional requirements of Rule 

6.105 of the Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure.  
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff William McGrew prays for judgment against the 

Defendants for a reasonable amount of actual damages sufficient to fully compensate 

him and for interest and costs as provided by law. 

COUNT II 
 
 1.  Plaintiff Elaine McGrew has sustained harms and losses, including, but not 

limited to, the loss of services, support, companionship, society, and consortium of her 

husband.   

2.  Plaintiff Elaine McGrew’s damages exceed the jurisdictional requirements of  

Rule 6.105 of the Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Elaine McGrew prays for judgment against the 

Defendants for a reasonable amount sufficient to fully compensate her and for interest 

and costs as provided by law. 

 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 

 
                                          By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 

                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                     E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 
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MARTIN DIAZ LAW FIRM 
 

                                                                    /s/ Martin A. Diaz_______ 
                                                                 Martin A. Diaz 000009676 
      ICIS AT0002000     
      528 South Clinton Street    
      Iowa City IA 52240-4212    
      319-339-4350     
      319-339-4426 fax     
      marty@martindiazlawfirm.com 
      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF IOWA IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW 
    
 Plaintiffs,           
v.          
                
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC 
SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.; and DRISS 
CAMMOUN, M.D.            
  
 Defendant. 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
  
 Case No. LACV130355 
 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ DESIGNATION OF 
EXPERTS 

 
 
 

 COME NOW the Plaintiffs and hereby designate the following persons 

who may be called as expert witnesses at the time of trial in the above 

referenced matter: 

 1.     Dr. Carl Warren Adams 
                  101 Becket Lake Dr. @ Celadon 
         Durango, CO 81301-8853 
 
 Dr. Adams is a Board Certified Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgeon 

including Trauma and Surgical Critical Care. Dr. Adams will be asked to 

comment on the standard of care in the evaluation (imaging and surgery), care 

and treatment of an individual like Bill McGrew; the breach of that standard of 

care; and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach of the standard 

of care and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his spouse.   

 Dr. Adams’ education, training, experience, and qualifications to testify as 

an expert witness are set forth in his curriculum vitae which is being provided to 

counsel. 
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 2.     Dr. Ivo Bekavac 
                  1735 W. Ridgeway Ave., Suite 112 
        Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 Dr. Bekavac is a Board Certified Neurologist, with Subspecialty Board 

Certification in Vascular Neurology and Neuroimaging (among others) who, as a 

treating physician, will be asked to comment on the standard of care in the 

evaluation (imaging and surgery), care and treatment of an individual like Bill 

McGrew; the breach of that standard of care; the harm sustained by Bill McGrew;  

and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach of the standard of care 

and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his spouse. He will 

also be asked to comment on the evaluation, care and treatment he has provided 

to Bill McGrew since he sustained the stroke on September 2-3, 2014.  

 Dr. Bekavac’s education, training, experience, and qualifications to testify 

as an expert witness are set forth in his curriculum vitae which has been provided 

to counsel. 

 3.       Dr. John Halloran 
  1825 Logan Ave. 
  Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 Dr. Halloran is a Board-Certified Neuroradiologist who will be asked to 

comment on the evaluation of imaging studies on Bill McGrew that he reviewed 

at the request of Dr. Bekavac. He will also be asked to comment on the standard 

of care in the imaging evaluation of an individual like Bill McGrew, any breach of 

that standard of care, and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach 

of the standard of care and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew 

and his spouse.  
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 A professional summary of Dr. Halloran’s education, training, experience, 

and qualifications to testify as an expert witness can be found at the website for 

UnityPoint Health: www.unitypoint.org/waterloo. A CV may be provided later. 

 4.      Kent Jayne 
         502 Augusta Circle 
          North Liberty, Iowa 52317 
 

Mr. Jayne is a Certified Life Care Planner, vocational rehabilitation 

specialist and an economist who has been asked to develop a life care plan for 

Bill McGrew and can then testify to the amount of money needed to fund that life 

care plan. Depending on how the court rules on the issue of a lien for medical 

expenses, he may be asked to determine what medical bills are related to the 

injuries and damages sustained by Bill McGrew due to the negligence of the 

defendants.  

Mr. Jayne’s education, training, experience, and qualifications are as set 

forth in his curriculum vitae, which is being provided to counsel.  

 The following witnesses are "experts" in that they have scientific, technical 

or other specialized knowledge.  However, these individuals (like Dr. Bekavac 

and Dr. Halloran) have not been retained in anticipation of litigation, and their 

expert opinions, if any, have not been developed in anticipation of litigation, but 

rather arise from the fact that these individuals may be treating physicians to the 

Plaintiff or have such other connection to this litigation that they are fact 

witnesses with specialized expertise. 

5.  All of Bill McGrew’s treating health care providers as disclosed in the  
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discovery process. This includes all individuals disclosed in depositions including 

the defendants.  

 6.  All other providers of services, assistive devices, educational care, 

custodial care and rehabilitative care as disclosed in the discovery process. 

7.   Plaintiffs reserve the right to call any other treating health care  

provider to testify to Bill McGrew’s health history and potentially to causation and 

damages. 

 8.   Plaintiff reserves the right to utilize, as experts, those individuals    

designated by the defendants in their designation to the Court. 
 

9.  Plaintiff reserves the right to call any rebuttal expert witnesses to 

any expert witness designated by defendants that raise issues otherwise not 

anticipated or expected.  

                                              Respectfully submitted, 
 
MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 

 
                                          By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 

                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                     E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 

  
      _/s/ Martin A. Diaz_______ 
      Martin A. Diaz  000009676 
      1570 Shady Ct NW 

Swisher, IA  52338 
      phone           319 339 4350 
      facsimile       319 339 4426 
      marty@martindiazlawfirm.com 
      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Copy to all counsel via EDMS 
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1 
 

IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C.; and DRISS CAMMOUN, M.D., 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ BRIEF IN 
RESISTANCE TO MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
COME NOW the Plaintiffs and hereby submit their Brief in Resistance to Dr. 

Cammoun’s Motion for Summary Judgment: 

                                                     INTRODUCTION 
 

This lawsuit arises out of a surgery to remove plaque (cholesterol buildup) from 

Bill McGrew’s right carotid artery.  Plaintiffs contend that the surgery was unnecessary 

and that as a result of this unnecessary surgery Bill McGrew was subjected to 

unnecessary risk resulting in his suffering a stroke caused by the unnecessary surgery. 

There are two defendants in this case: Dr. Otoadese, the surgeon who 

recommended and performed the fateful surgery; and Dr. Cammoun, the radiologist 

who misread the CT angiogram that was relied upon by Dr. Otoadese in recommending 

surgery.  

The issue before the court is Defendant Cammoun’s motion for summary 

judgment based on the mistaken belief that plaintiffs have failed to produce an expert 

report as required by Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.500(2)(b). Dr. Cammoun’s 

argument then claims that, because an expert report has not been produced, Plaintiffs 
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4 
 

Cammoun does not demonstrate right carotid artery stenosis of 65%. Rather, Dr. 

Halloran contends that the correct reading of that CT angiogram is 32% and Dr. 

Bekavac contends that the correct reading of that CT angiogram is no more than 40%.  

Dr. Bekavac also opined that because the CT angiogram was misread there was no 

justification for the surgery that was performed on Mr. McGrew. Accordingly, Plaintiffs 

complied fully with the disclosure requirement of IRCP 1.500(2)(c).  

Defendant’s contention that Plaintiffs were obligated to provide an expert report 

pursuant to the retained expert disclosure rule is simply mistaken. Defendant concedes 

that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were treating physicians. As such, Plaintiffs had no 

obligation to obtain a written report from each. In fact, that’s contrary to the entire 

framework of the disclosure requirements. The intent and purpose of the rules is to 

recognize that, when it comes to treating physicians, Plaintiffs have little to no control 

over those individuals. That is totally different than the scenario in which Plaintiffs go out 

and hire or retain an expert for the purpose of testifying at trial. In that scenario, 

Plaintiffs can obtain a report prepared by the retained expert. Treating physicians are 

not required to prepare special reports because they’ve not been retained for that 

purpose. Rather, treating physicians can rely upon any progress notes or medical 

records that they have generated themselves in the care and treatment of the plaintiff 

and can rely on the mental impressions they developed during the treatment process 

and any opinions formed from the facts obtained and impressions made.  

The Iowa rules recognize that treating physicians can develop mental 

impressions and opinions arising out of the care and treatment that they provide. That is 

certainly what happened here regarding Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. They are not 
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  IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C. 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ PROPOSED 
JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

  COME NOW the Plaintiffs and submit the following proposed jury instructions for 

consideration by this Court.  Plaintiffs reserve the right to add, change or otherwise place 

before the Court jury instructions after the taking of testimony or introduction of evidence. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

_/s/ Martin A. Diaz________ 
MARTIN A. DIAZ 000009676 
ICIS  AT0002000 
1570 Shady Ct. NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350 telephone 
319-339-4426 facsimile 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 
MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 

 
                                          By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 

                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                     E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 
Copy: Per EDMS  
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INSTRUCTION NO. 11 
  

LOSS OF CHANCE OF A BETTER OUTCOME 
 

If you find that the McGrews have failed to prove their claim for medical 

negligence as set forth in Instruction No. 8 and their claim for inadequate informed 

consent, you must then consider the McGrews’ alternative claim for lost chance of a 

better outcome.   

If you find that plaintiffs have proven either their claim of medical negligence or 

their claim for inadequate informed consent, you should not consider plaintiffs’ 

alternative claim for lost chance of a better outcome. 

In order to prove their claim for lost chance of a better outcome, the McGrews 

must prove all the following propositions: 

 1.   Dr. Otoadese was negligent in failing to return Bill McGrew to  
 

surgery immediately upon learning that Bill was showing signs or symptoms of a stroke.                                

 2.        The negligence caused a loss of a chance of a better outcome.  
 
   3.   The amount of damage. 
 

If the McGrews have proved all these propositions, the McGrews are entitled to 

damages in some amount.  If the McGrews have failed to prove any of these 

propositions, the McGrews are not entitled to damages on this claim.   

 
ICJI 1600.16 (modified to fit case) 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 

 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. 
and NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND 
THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C. 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST MOTION 

IN LIMINE 
 

 

COME NOW the Plaintiffs and move the Court in limine to prohibit 

Defendants, their counsel and any witnesses called to testify by the Defendants and 

their counsel, from offering any evidence or making any mention whatsoever of the 

following matters during any part of the trial of this cause, including but not limited 

to, voir dire examinations of the jury, opening statements, the presentation of 

evidence or closing arguments: 

1. Evidence or Claims that Plaintiffs were at fault:  Evidence 

regarding the fact that Plaintiffs were at fault or should have done something 

different to have prevented harm is inadmissible in this case and should be 

excluded as irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial.  Iowa R. Evid. 5.412 and 5.403.  
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No claim of comparative fault has been made by Defendants.  

2.  Asking why or when Plaintiffs filed suit or their personal criticisms:  

Decisions regarding when and whom to sue and when and whom to dismiss are 

decisions made by counsel, with the consent of the clients. The Plaintiffs are not 

medical experts and have not been counseled by any experts. They are lay people 

and asking the Plaintiffs what criticisms they have or why they sued the defendants 

are improper opinion questions, as well as an invasion of the attorney-client 

privilege and relationship and invasion of the mental impressions of counsel. They 

are ultimately irrelevant as the only opinions that have probative value are those 

that come from experts. Plaintiffs rely upon Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.401 and 

5.403 for the exclusion of this potential evidence, as well as the attorney-client 

privilege for the associated litigation and trial strategy. 

 3.   Criminal Charges:  Bill McGrew was convicted of OWI in 1992 and 

was charged with theft in the 1980s but the charges were dismissed. Any questions 

related to any criminal charge is irrelevant, potentially prejudicial and inadmissible 

as character evidence. Plaintiffs rely upon Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.401, 5.403 and 

5.404 for the exclusion of this potential evidence.  

 4.  Other litigation:  Any questions related to other litigation, including a 

prior bankruptcy filing, is irrelevant, potentially prejudicial and inadmissible as 
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character evidence. Plaintiffs rely upon Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.401, 5.403 and 

5.404 for the exclusion of this potential evidence.   

 5. Any other alleged cause of harm to Bill McGrew: Beyond the opinions 

already expressed in the defense experts’ 1.508 disclosures or deposition 

testimony, Defendant has not provided notice about defense theories of an 

alternative cause of harm to Bill McGrew.  Plaintiffs seek to avoid the prejudice 

that would result if Defendants’ experts come up with a new theory on his 

condition.  Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.508(4) provides as follows: 

1.508(4) Expert testimony at trial. The expert’s direct testimony at trial 
may not be inconsistent with or go beyond the fair scope of the expert’s 
disclosures, report, deposition testimony, or supplement thereto. 
 

“The purpose of rule 1.508(4) ‘is to avoid surprise to litigants and to allow the 

parties to formulate their positions on such evidence as is available.’” West Realty, 

Inc. v. Fox, 2009 Iowa App. LEXIS 593, 5-6 (Iowa Ct. App. June 17, 2009) 

(quoting Millis v. Hute, 587 N.W.2d 625, 628 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)).   

 “An expert may not express a mere guess or conjecture, but he may testify 

to what might have been the cause of a certain result.” Millis v. Hute, 587 N.W.2d 

625, 628 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998).  Here, any new theory regarding Bill’s injuries 

would be mere guess or conjecture on the part of an expert or would have been 

made without providing adequate notice to Plaintiffs and should therefore be 

excluded.  Without some type of expert link on cause of an injury for any new 
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theory, the probative value of any comment or evidence on such a theory would be 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, 

and misleading the jury.   

Thus, based on Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.508 and Iowa Rules of Evid. 5.401 and 

5.403, any evidence suggesting a new theory on the cause of harm to Bill McGrew 

should be excluded from trial. 

6.  Limiting Defense Experts to the Fair Scope of Testimony Provided in 

Discovery:  Additionally, as noted in ¶5, Plaintiffs request the Court enforce Rule 

1.508(4) and limit defense experts to the “fair scope of the expert’s disclosures, 

report, deposition testimony, or supplement thereto.”  

7. Bill McGrew’s General Medical Records.  Bill McGrew’s records from 

the summer of 2014 through the present are probative evidence as these records 

relate to the incident that is the subject of this action.  

However, the general health records of Mr. McGrew contain confidential 

medical information that is unrelated to the incident at issue.  Unless Defendant can 

establish some reasonable relationship between the record and the issues involved, 

this Court should either require redaction of those records or exclude the records as 

irrelevant.  Even if Defendants can suggest a potentially relevant use for the records, 

the records are still subject to Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.403, and without the 

assistance of an expert to put the document into context, there is a significant chance 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. 
and NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND 
THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C., 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ RESISTANCE 
TO DEFENDANT 
OTOADESE’S MOTION IN 
LIMINE  

 
COME NOW the Plaintiffs and in response to Defendant Otoadese’s Motion 

in Limine states: 

1.  Informed Consent Theory: Plaintiffs have pled a cause of action for 

negligence to include a claim of informed consent. Defendants have been aware of 

this theory since the filing of the lawsuit. Dr. Otoadese was asked questions in his 

deposition regarding alternative treatment to surgery and the risks and benefits of 

the alternative treatment, including the option of proceeding without surgery. Dr. 

Otoadese has conceded that he did not discuss the option of medical therapy 

(medications) with Mr. McGrew and his daughter. In addition, Defendants were 

present when Dr. Adams (plaintiffs’ retained expert) was asked questions at his 
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deposition regarding the alternative treatment of medical therapy for ulcerative 

plaque, a condition that Dr. Otoadese concedes existed on August 18, 2014.  

Rather than file a Motion for summary judgment on informed consent, 

defendants have chosen to file a motion in limine and place the court in the 

unenviable position of having to determine how the evidence will come in at trial 

without the benefit of all evidence on the issue. Defendants have chosen to 

selectively provide evidence regarding this issue, including choosing to ignore Dr. 

Otoadese’s testimony on this issue. 

Plaintiffs contend that a motion in limine is not the appropriate vehicle to 

deal with this issue. If the plaintiffs fail to prove this theory, then the court can 

grant a directed verdict. To prevent plaintiffs from even attempting to prove their 

claim, by limiting the evidence that they can offer, would constitute reversible 

error. Plaintiffs are entitled to the opportunity to present evidence on any theory or 

cause of action. It is unfair to require the plaintiffs to provide a preview of how 

they intend to prove this claim through the vehicle of a motion in limine. Plaintiffs 

have briefed the law on informed consent and the defendants have provided their 

viewpoint of the law in their motion in limine. Plaintiffs have provided the court 

with proposed jury instructions on the issue of informed consent. Plaintiffs refuse 

to provide defendants with an explanation of how they intend to handle the issue of 

informed consent in this case and the court should not reward the defendants for 
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failing to bring this issue to the court’s attention via a Motion for Summary 

Judgment. 

The primary purpose of a motion in limine is to avoid disclosing to the jury 
prejudicial matters which may compel declaring a mistrial. The trial judge is 
thereby alerted to an evidentiary problem which may develop in the trial. It 
should not, except upon a clear showing, be used to reject evidence.  

 
State v. Johnson, 183 N.W.2d 194, 197 (Iowa 1971).  
 

There is no proper basis for the defendant to ask this court to rule on the 

admissibility of evidence of a legitimate cause of action through a motion in 

limine.  

2.  Lost Chance Theory: In Wendland v. Sparks, 574 N.W.2d 327, 329 

(Iowa 1998), the Iowa Supreme Court held that it is not necessary to plead loss of 

chance.1  

In his deposition, Dr. Adams testified that after Mr. McGrew was found to 

have signs and symptoms of a stroke on the morning of September 3, 2014 that 

there was still an opportunity to take him back to surgery to revascularize the 

artery, and in his opinion that such a timely effort would have resulted in avoiding 

the disabling condition that Mr. McGrew now lives with. The defendants disagree 

with that contention and claim that any such effort would not have changed the 

                                                 
1 Defendants contend that Wendland nevertheless requires that the parties be alerted to the claim. 
This contention was rejected by the Court in Mead v. Adrian, 670 N.W.2d 174, 176-77 (Iowa 
2003). The Court there cited to Wendland as support for the trial court permitting “amendments 
to conform to proof that added claims for….lost chance of survival”. 
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outcome. Accordingly, the jury will have to determine if there was an opportunity 

that was lost because of inaction.  

The jury’s principal role will be to determine if the original carotid 

endarterectomy was necessary. The jury could conclude that surgery was 

necessary, but also conclude that there was a reasonable opportunity to repair the 

damage done by the original surgery and that Dr. Otoadese was negligent in not 

attempting to do so. The jury will then have to determine whether it would have 

made any difference and could come to the determination that there was a lost 

chance of a better outcome. 

Defendants complaints are several. First, they claim that loss of chance was 

not pled. As noted above, this argument fails because loss of chance does not need 

to be pled and can in fact be permitted as late as during trial. Defendants further 

argue that they were unaware of this issue. However, they were clearly aware that 

Dr. Adams contended that the failure to return Mr. McGrew to surgery on the 

morning of September 3, 2014 was negligence and that such negligence was a 

cause of harm to Mr. McGrew. (See also Plaintiffs’ Exh. 106). They also knew that 

their own experts would contend that it would not have made a difference. They 

knew that there was a dispute as to a chance of recovery from the stroke 

occasioned by the original surgery. 
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Second, they argue that Dr. Adams has testified to a traditional negligence 

claim and therefore loss of chance is not part of the case. This is also mistaken. In 

their trial brief, plaintiffs cite to Mead v. Adrian at 180, fn. 5, which holds, among 

other things, that “when the claim is submitted as an alternative to ordinary 

wrongful-death damages it is unrealistic to require a claimant who is arguing that it 

is more probable than not that death resulted from the defendant's negligence to 

also present evidence that the probability of survival was in fact some lesser 

percentage. The jury must determine the amount of proportionate reduction based 

on all of the evidence in the case.” 

 Third, they appear to disagree with Plaintiffs’ proposed jury instructions on 

how this theory is to be analyzed by the jury. However, that is not an appropriate 

issue on a motion in limine. That is a discussion to be held during the jury 

instruction conference. The issue before the court is whether the plaintiff should be 

permitted to go forward with a theory of recovery that has been recognized by the 

Iowa Supreme Court. Plaintiffs do not see how the defendant can ask this court to 

prohibit evidence about a subject that is an integral part of the factual record. If 

defendants are correct that it is a separate specification of negligence, and not a 

loss of chance claim, then the evidence still comes in for purposes of assessing that 

claim.  
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3. Treating Healthcare Providers:  Defendants’ Motion in Limine to limit 

the expert testimony of Drs. Bekavac and Halloran is based on the mistaken belief 

that plaintiffs have failed to produce an expert report as required by Iowa Rule of 

Civil Procedure 1.500(2)(b). The argument then follows that, because an expert 

report has not been produced, Plaintiffs are not permitted to offer testimony from 

these physicians as to the standard of care and the breach of the standard of care.  

As will be discussed below, Plaintiffs complied with the court’s discovery 

plan and the more applicable rule, Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.500(2)(c). 

Accordingly, Defendants’ motion in limine must be denied.  

a.  Plaintiffs Have Properly Designated Their Expert Witnesses and 
Disclosed Their Proposed Testimony   

 
 The applicable discovery plan required that plaintiffs designate their expert 

witnesses by February 7, 2018. Plaintiffs complied with that requirement.  

(Plaintiffs’ Exh. 103)2 

 The discovery plan then stated that “any disclosures required by Iowa Rule 

of Civil Procedure 1.500(2)(b) will be provided” by March 7, 2018. That rule 

states in relevant part as follows:  

Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court, this disclosure must be 
accompanied by a written report—prepared and signed by the witness—if 
the witness is one retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony 
in the case or one whose duties as the party’s employee regularly involve 
giving expert testimony. 

                                                 
2 All exhibits cited to will be found at the end of this document.  
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(Emphasis added) 
  
 This rule only applies to retained experts. Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, the 

focus of Defendants’ motion, are treating physicians, and were not retained or 

specially employed to provide expert testimony in this case. Therefore, the 

discovery plan’s requirement that an expert report be provided does not apply to 

them. The discovery plan is silent as to those individuals that are not retained or 

specially employed. Those individuals are governed by Iowa Rule of Civil 

Procedure 1.500(2)(c), which provides as follows: 

Witnesses who do not provide a written report. Unless otherwise 
stipulated or ordered by the court, if the witness is not required to 
provide a written report, this disclosure must state: 
 
(1)  The subject matter on which the witness is expected to present 
evidence under Iowa Rules of Evidence 5.702, 5.703, or 5.705. 
 
(2)  A summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is 
expected to testify. 

 

(Emphasis added). The rule is plain and simple. There is no requirement that a 

report be provided for Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. However, plaintiffs must 

provide a summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is expected to 

testify. Plaintiffs complied with that requirement on March 7, 2018 when it 

produced a supplemental answer to interrogatory for treating physicians. 

(Plaintiffs’ Exh. 105). The initial answer to interrogatory, which is found in Exhibit 
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102 identified several treating physicians including Drs. Bekavac and Halloran and 

provided the following statement: 

The above individuals can testify to the evaluation, care and treatment 
of Bill McGrew and can testify to those facts known, mental 
impressions formed and opinions held as a result of their contact with 
him. This may include standard of care opinions (as to Dr. Bekavac 
and Dr. Halloran), causation opinions (Dr. Bekavac), permanency (Dr. 
Bekavac) and future care and treatment (Dr. Bekavac, New Aldaya, 
and Dr. Musgrave).  

 
The supplemental answer to interrogatory went into greater detail regarding both 

Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. (Plaintiffs’ Exh. 105). This included disclosure that 

these individuals would testify to the standard of care and the breach of the 

standard of care.  

In addition, plaintiffs had already produced as part of the initial disclosures 

all medical records including the records of Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. The 

medical records produced include Exhibits 11, 12 and 13, which detail the key 

opinions held by both treating doctors, namely that the CT angiogram read by Dr. 

Otoadese does not demonstrate right carotid artery stenosis of 70%. Rather, Dr. 

Halloran contends that the correct reading of that CT angiogram is 32% and Dr. 

Bekavac contends that the correct reading of that CT angiogram is no more than 

40%.  Dr. Bekavac also opined that because the CT angiogram was misread there 

was no justification for the surgery that was performed on Mr. McGrew. 
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Accordingly, Plaintiffs complied fully with the disclosure requirement of IRCP 

1.500(2)(c).3 

Defendants’ contention that Plaintiffs were obligated to provide an expert 

report pursuant to the retained expert disclosure rule is simply mistaken. These 

doctors were treating physicians. As such, Plaintiffs had no obligation to obtain a 

written report from each. In fact, that’s contrary to the entire framework of the 

disclosure requirements. The intent and purpose of the rules is to recognize that, 

when it comes to treating physicians, Plaintiffs have little to no control over those 

individuals. That is totally different than the scenario in which Plaintiffs go out and 

hire or retain an expert for the purpose of testifying at trial. In that scenario, 

Plaintiffs can obtain a report prepared by the retained expert. Treating physicians 

are not required to prepare special reports because they’ve not been retained for 

that purpose. Rather, treating physicians can rely upon any progress notes or 

medical records that they have generated themselves in the care and treatment of 

the plaintiff and can rely on the mental impressions they developed during the 

treatment process and any opinions formed from the facts obtained and 

impressions made.  

                                                 
3 Defendants contend that these medical records are hearsay and may not be admitted. Plaintiffs 
disagree, but regardless, these records identify the facts and opinions that these doctors 
developed at the time they saw Mr. McGrew or his imaging studies.   
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The Iowa rules recognize that treating physicians can develop mental 

impressions and opinions arising out of the care and treatment that they provide. 

That is certainly what happened here regarding Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. They 

are not required to provide expert reports. Plaintiffs have otherwise complied with 

the Iowa rules. 

b. Defendants were given the opportunity to depose Drs. Bekavac and 
Halloran and waived that right 

 
Over a 5-month period, Defendants were given the opportunity to depose 

these treating physicians. After demanding their depositions, the defendants did an 

about face and withdrew their requests. Defendants waived their right to depose 

these treating physicians.   

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure1.508(1)(a) allows a party to “depose any 

person who has been identified as an expert whose opinions may be presented at 

trial.” This rule is not limited to retained experts but, if experts are retained, then 

their depositions can only take place after they have produced written reports. In 

the case of Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, since they were not retained, their 

depositions could be taken at any time. 

In their Motion to Strike Experts, plaintiffs provide an extensive history that 

shows that Plaintiffs made these two treating physicians available for a deposition. 

In the case of Dr. Halloran, all efforts to depose him went through his own lawyer. 

As for Dr. Bekavac, Plaintiffs provided a direct phone number where they could 
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contact Dr. Bekavac to schedule his deposition. After many months of efforts to 

obtain deposition dates from counsel for the defendants, the parties agreed on 2 

days in January 2019 for the depositions of these two treating physician experts. 

Yet, shortly after those dates were agreed to, the defendants canceled the 

depositions and waive their right to take those depositions. (Plaintiffs’ Exh. 202). 

c. An IRCP 1.500(2)(c) disclosure is the equivalent of an IRCP 
1.500(2)(b) report, especially when supported by medical records 
produced by the treating physician 

 
 In this case, Plaintiffs provided two forms of expert disclosure regarding the 

proposed testimony of these treating physicians. First, they provided the medical 

records generated by these physicians. These are business records that are made as 

part of medical diagnosis or treatment and are therefore admissible. They detail the 

thought process of both physicians and provide an outline of those facts, 

mental impressions and opinions formulated at the time they provided care and 

treatment. Second, Plaintiffs provided the expert disclosures required pursuant to 

IRCP 1.500(2)(c).  

 Defendants’ complaint is that they have not been provided with an “expert 

report” under IRCP 1.500(2)(b). But what they fail to acknowledge is that they 

have been provided with the equivalent if not more than an expert report. The 

medical records alone provide a clear statement of what Dr. Bekavac was thinking, 

the concerns he had raised with the family, and his belief that he needed to confirm 
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that information by having Dr. Halloran review the CT angiogram. That’s 

significant information to put in a medical report. It is a rare event when a 

physician criticizes another physician in the medical chart. It is not uncommon for 

one physician to raise concerns with patients about the care provided by another 

physician, but it is exceedingly uncommon for those thoughts and opinions to find 

their way into the patient’s chart. The purpose of an expert report as requested by 

these defendants is to alert them to the potential line of testimony of the expert 

witness. The medical records prepared by Drs. Bekavac and Halloran tell a very 

direct story. Defendants’ contention that they need a separate expert report is 

meritless. 

 In addition, these defendants also received supplemental answers from the 

plaintiffs stating that they intended to utilize the testimony of these treating 

physicians as part of the proof of negligence in this case and outlined that 

evidence. Defendants recognized the potential testimony because they sought to 

take the depositions of these individuals.  

 When the Supreme Court authorized the change to the rules regarding expert 

disclosures, it sought to create equivalencies in different experts.4 It recognized 

                                                 
4 The changes were generally outlined in an August 28, 2014 order issued by the Supreme Court. 
The overall changes to the discovery process came in response to the Iowa Civil Justice Task 
force report issued in 2012. A review of the Task Force report reflects that the task force could 
not come to an agreement regarding changes to the expert disclosure requirement. It appears that 
the Supreme Court created this system on its own without a specific recommendation from the 
task force. The changes went into effect in 2015. 
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that in some cases there will be expert witnesses that are not retained or specially 

employed for purposes of litigation. In creating the two separate subparagraphs of 

the rule, the court struck this equivalency by demanding different methods for 

disclosure. If you retain an expert, you can control that expert and therefore you 

should be expected to produce an expert report prepared by that expert. On the 

other hand, if your case happens to have a witness that has special training and 

skill, you should be able to utilize that individual without demanding that he 

produce a written report that is the equivalent of what that expert may already have 

said in other writings. In other words, why should we expect a treating physician to 

prepare or sign off on an affidavit or report when that physician has already created 

the equivalent of such a report in the course of their care and treatment of the 

patient? But the court was also sensitive to the fact that the opposing party would 

need to know that the witness would be used as part of the case. Therefore, the 

court created a separate but equal mechanism to an expert report from a non-

retained expert that balanced these concerns. 

 Defendants’ argument seeks to undermine the balance created by IRCP 

1.500(2). In short, they are demanding an expert report from a treating physician. 

This argument cannot be allowed to succeed because it then would require a party 

interested in using a non-retained expert to get an expert report to satisfy the 

opposing party. 
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 Defendants also contend that Hansen v. Central Iowa Hospital Corp., 686 

N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004) is still good law. It’s not entirely clear that it is, but to the 

extent that it is, the key practice pointer is that if you intend to use treating 

physicians to discuss matters beyond their role as treaters then you should make 

disclosure. The disclosure rules in existence at the time that Hansen was decided 

are different than the current rules. So long as one complies with the disclosure 

rules in effect at the time of the case, the requirements of Hansen are met. 

Plaintiffs clearly met the disclosure requirements and the defendants have not been 

prejudiced in any way. They have known about these individuals since the filing of 

this lawsuit and have chosen not to depose them. 

 4.  Irrelevant and Prejudicial Subjects: Defendants have raised eight 

separate issues described under the general heading of “irrelevant and prejudicial 

subjects.” Plaintiffs will respond to each by indicating the letter applicable to the 

request: 

 a. Criticism of physicians by other physicians: It is a fact in this case that 

Dr. Bekavac disagrees with the interpretation of the CT angiogram of August 18, 

2014 and is critical of the decision to perform surgery on Mr. McGrew. It is also a 

fact that Dr. Halloran disagrees with the interpretation of the CT angiogram of 

August 18, 2014. Such criticisms are usually reserved, if at all, for the peer review 
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process. That didn’t happen here. Plaintiffs should be permitted to establish these 

facts and should not be limited in the words they use to describe these facts. 

b-c. Dr. Otoadese’s qualifications: Dr. Otoadese has testified that in 2008-

2009 he “voluntarily” surrendered his hospital privileges to perform heart surgery, 

which at the time constituted 50-60% of his overall time performing surgeries. Dr. 

Otoadese then filed suit against Allen Memorial Hospital relating to these 

surrendered privileges and reached a confidential settlement unknown to these 

Plaintiffs. (See Otoadese v. Allen Memorial Hospital, Black Hawk County, 

LACV114625). But, notwithstanding that settlement, Dr. Otoadese has not 

performed “open heart” surgeries since 2009. He has admitted that at the time he 

was performing “open heart” surgeries, they constituted 50-60% of his surgery 

time and approximately 30% of his overall surgeries. 

In 2012, Dr. Otoadese was “kicked out” (terminated)5 from Cedar Valley 

Medical Specialists and on January 1, 2013 he opened Northern Iowa 

Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery Clinic, P.C.  In the summer of 2014, Dr. 

Otoadese’s surgeries were limited to vascular and nonvascular thoracic areas of the 

                                                 
5 These are Dr. Otoadese’s words. He explains in his deposition that he was terminated because 
CVMS was not able to get insurance to cover his practice. Plaintiffs do not know if that is an 
accurate reflection of why, but they do not intend to offer that evidence unless the defendant 
wishes to. 

E-FILED  2019 FEB 14 10:10 AM BLACKHAWK - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT

 
App. 119



16 
 

body and he was still not performing open-heart procedures---consistent with the 

fact that he no longer had privileges to perform open heart surgeries.  

One of Dr. Otoadese’s experts is Dr. James Levett, a cardio thoracic surgeon 

from Cedar Rapids. Dr. Levett was retained as an expert witness by Allen Hospital 

in the lawsuit filed by Dr. Otoadese. Dr. Levett was hired to testify to the 

appropriateness of the decision to withhold surgical privileges from Dr. Otoadese 

to perform open-heart procedures. 

The above facts are undisputed.  

It is also undisputed that on August 18, 2014, Mr. McGrew went to see Dr. 

Otoadese who recommended surgery and did not discuss with Mr. McGrew 

alternative treatment for his condition that did not require surgery. 

A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if 
the expert’s scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help 
the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. 

 
Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.702 
 

Iowa law existing at the time this case was filed, Iowa Code §147.139, 

provided as follows: 

If the standard of care given by a physician….is at issue, the court shall only 
allow a person to qualify as an expert witness and to testify on the issue of 
the appropriate standard of care if the person’s medical…qualifications 
relate directly to the medical problem or problems at issue and the type of 
treatment administered in the case. 
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 Dr. Otoadese will testify in his own defense. Dr. Otoadese is an expert 

witness and he will testify to the fact that he did not violate the standard of care. In 

order to assess Dr. Otoadese’s credibility as an expert, the court must provide the 

plaintiff the opportunity to question Dr. Otoadese’s qualifications including any 

limitations on his hospital privileges, and the successes and failures that he has had 

as a physician and surgeon. This includes any motivation that he may have had to 

perform surgery on Mr. McGrew. The evidence will include the fact that his 

surgical practice had taken a substantial downturn in 2009 when he was not 

allowed to perform open-heart procedures. The evidence will also include the fact 

that his surgical practice was significantly affected by his termination (“kicked 

out”, as he termed it) from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists. In order to properly 

assess Dr. Otoadese’s skill as a physician and his motive for recommending 

surgery, the jury needs to be given all relevant information. Failure to provide the 

jury with that information would mislead the jury.  

If Dr. Otoadese were called as a retained expert, plaintiffs would be 

permitted to inquire about the hospital privileges maintained by him and whether 

he had ever been terminated from a clinical group. That information would be 

relevant to assess his qualifications to render standard of care opinions. 

In addition to the undisputed facts regarding his hospital privileges at Allen 

Memorial Hospital, and his termination from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists, 
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there is the additional evidence that one of Dr. Otoadese’s expert witnesses has 

previously testified as an expert witness against Dr. Otoadese in the case involving 

his privileges to perform open-heart procedures at Allen Memorial Hospital. 

This inquiry into the qualifications of any expert, including a defendant who 

was an expert, has been recognized by the Iowa Supreme Court: 

We are committed to a liberal rule on admissibility of expert testimony, 
Wick v. Henderson, 485 N.W.2d 645, 648 (Iowa 1992), and the admission of 
such testimony rests within the sound discretion of the district court. Tappe 
v. Iowa Methodist Medical Ctr., 477 N.W.2d 396, 402 (Iowa 1991). Iowa 
Rule of Evidence 702 has "codified Iowa's existing liberal rule on the 
admission of opinion testimony." Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. 
Co., 514 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 1994). The United States Supreme Court 
reaffirmed this approach in Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
509 U.S. 579, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 2799, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469, 
485 (1993). Rule 702 provides: 
 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the 
trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, 
a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or 
otherwise. 
 

Further, in its comments to rule 702, the advisory committee stated: 

If [pursuant to Iowa Rule of Evidence 104(a)] the Court is satisfied 
that the threshold requirements have been met, the witness should be 
allowed to testify. All further inquiry regarding the extent of his 
[or her] qualifications go to the weight that the fact finder can 
give such testimony under Rule 104(e). 
 

Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 888 (Iowa 1996) (Italics in original; bold added) 
 

In Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 514 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 

1994), the plaintiff objected to testimony from defendant’s retained expert because 
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he was not board certified in neuropsychology and because he was a psychologist 

and not a medical doctor testifying about medical causation. In rejecting this 

objection, the court took pains to point out that the ultimate assessment of 

qualifications was left to the trial process including cross-examination and jury 

assessment of the witness. The court stated: 

Dr. Moore has board certification as a clinical psychologist, holds a Ph.D. in 
clinical psychology, and has substantial experience in neuropsychology. 
Although Dr. Moore lacked board certification in neuropsychology, we 
believe this fact went to the weight of his testimony, not its admissibility.  

*** 
Although few of these restrictions on experts strike us as fundamentally 
unsound, we refuse to impose barriers to expert testimony other than the 
basic requirements of Iowa rule of evidence 702 and those described by the 
Supreme Court in Daubert. The criteria for qualifications under rule 702--
knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education--are too broad to allow 
distinctions based on whether or not a proposed expert belongs to a 
particular profession or has a particular degree.  

*** 
We understand the concern that expert testimony regarding the causes of 
personal injury can fall "wholly in the realm of conjecture, speculation, and 
surmise." Nevertheless, we agree with the Daubert Court that the trial court 
in its discretion and the jury in its deliberation provide the most effective 
determination of the admissibility and weight of expert psychological 
testimony.  

*** 
Similarly, we believe with the aid of vigorous cross examination, the jury is 
fully capable of detecting the most plausible explanation of events. ….  

*** 
Moreover, plaintiffs had ample opportunity to discredit Dr. Moore. 
Plaintiffs' counsel subjected Dr. Moore to thorough cross examination 
regarding his qualifications and the basis of his testimony, placing special 
emphasis on his lack of medical qualifications. … 
 

Id. at 886-889 (Italics added)  
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 Finally, in Andersen v. Khanna, 913 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2018), the Court 

held that the personal characteristics of a physician may establish a duty of 

disclosure as part of obtaining informed consent for treatment. In discussing the 

duty to disclose surgical experience, the Court noted the following: 

Indeed, at trial several experts testified regarding the number of Bentall 
procedures they had performed and their training to perform the procedure in 
order to establish their competency to testify as expert witnesses. It stands to 
reason that if such information is relevant to establishing a witness's 
expertise, such information could be material to a reasonable patient's 
decision to or not to undergo a particular treatment. 

 
Id. at 540 (emphasis added).  
 
The Court cited with approval a Louisiana Court of Appeals decision that “held the 

physician had a duty to disclose his chronic alcohol abuse.” Andersen at 542 

(citing to Hidding v. Williams, 578 So. 2d 1192, 1196 (La. Ct. App. 1991)). The 

Court makes clear that the qualifications of a physician may be relevant to consent, 

and in the process highlights that a physician’s history is important in assessing 

their credibility.  

 Defendants contend that permitting evidence of the qualifications of the 

defendant physician would be more prejudicial than probative. However, it would 

be more prejudicial not to tell the jury about the qualifications and working history 

of this physician. Under what circumstances is the qualifications of an expert 

physician not probative? Under what circumstances is the working history of an 

expert physician not probative? They clearly are. If prejudice exists, it does so 
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because defendant’s qualifications create such prejudice. It is not prejudice created 

by the plaintiffs. If any such prejudice exists, it cannot outweigh the probative 

value of a jury understanding a physician’s qualifications. 

 d.  Leased Space for Ultrasounds: The fact that Dr. Otoadese has access to 

an ultrasound facility is relevant since one of the options he had was to perform an 

ultrasound on Mr. McGrew’s carotid arteries before recommending surgery. The 

location of that facility is at ADI, where Dr. Cammoun is employed. The fact that 

Dr. Otoadese leases space from ADI and Dr. Cammoun, and that Dr. Otoadese 

routinely refers patients to Dr. Cammoun are also relevant to understanding the 

relationship between these two individuals and why Mr. McGrew ends up there. 

There is nothing prejudicial about this information. 

 e. Financial Motives behind medical care: Defendants cite to a series of 

facts that are undisputed. It’s not clear what the complaint is. If the defendants’ 

contention is that plaintiffs should not be permitted to comment on the evidence 

that is admissible then they are mistaken. Again, not permitting reasonable 

argument from admissible evidence can be more prejudicial than to permit such 

argument. Apparently, defendants prefer that the jury be kept in the dark about 

how Dr. Otoadese practices medicine.  

 f. Medical Chart: Plaintiffs don’t plan to make this argument but, if the 

door is opened, they reserve the right to argue this. 
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 g. Relationships between Dr. Otoadese and Drs. Bekavac and Halloran: 

The evidence will be that there is no ill will between all physicians involved. This 

is relevant because a jury may conclude without such information that there is ill 

will between these individuals and that is what led Drs. Bekavac and Halloran to 

criticize the CT angiogram interpretation and the surgery. Therefore, this is 

probative evidence and there is no prejudice to its admissibility. 

 h. Board Certification: Please refer to the discussion on qualifications in 

subparagraph b-c. If Dr. Otoadese were first in his class in medical school, the 

Defendants would be parading that before the jury; but if he struggled to be board 

certified, the defense would want that excluded.  

 5.   Other patients, claims or adverse outcomes of Dr. Otoadese: 

Plaintiffs do not intend to discuss specific patients claims or adverse outcomes. 

However, during his deposition Dr. Otoadese was interested in talking about other 

patients (not by name). If he persists, then plaintiffs do intend to discuss with him 

prior lawsuits or adverse outcomes. Defendants do not get to talk about his practice 

as if it were pristine and without problems.  

 6. Peer Review: Plaintiffs do not intend to offer any such evidence during 

their case in chief. However, if Dr. Levett one of defendants’ retained experts 

testifies, plaintiffs intend to ask him about his involvement in the lawsuit filed by 

Dr. Otoadese against Allen Hospital. Dr. Levett was retained by Allen Hospital to 
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testify to the decision by the hospital to deny certain surgical privileges to Dr. 

Otoadese.  

 7. Out of Court Statements of Health Care Providers: Plaintiffs believe 

that any out-of-court statements should be handled on a case-by-case basis. This is 

because some statements made by health care providers to the plaintiffs would not 

be hearsay because they would either be subject to an exception or because they 

would not be offered for the truth of the matter asserted but rather offered for other 

purposes such as state of mind and decision-making. 

 8.  Future Medical Expenses: Iowa Code §147.136 does not allow an 

award of medical expenses that have been paid for or will be paid for by insurance 

or a governmental program, with some exceptions. However, that statute does not 

prohibit evidence of future expenses. It just does not permit recovery if those 

expenses will be paid for by insurance or a governmental program. The difficulty 

is that for some expenses there may not be any coverage, or any coverage may be 

uncertain. Plaintiffs intend to offer the testimony of Kent Jayne about the cost of 

future life care and Mr. Jayne can testify as to whether those expenses are expected 

to be covered by insurance or a governmental program. Plaintiffs’ principal future 

life care claim will be related to bringing Mr. McGrew home and providing him 

with in-home care. This type of care is usually not covered by insurance or 

governmental program. Plaintiffs anticipate that they will make this distinction 
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known to the jury during Mr. Jaynes testimony. Plaintiffs contend that it would be 

error for the court to preclude such evidence. The better approach is to deal with it 

in the jury instruction process.  

 9.  Liability Insurance Coverage: No objection. 

 10. Punitive Damages: No objection. 

 11. Financial Disparity: No objection. 

 12.  Settlement: With the understanding that Dr. Cammoun is a released 

party under Chapter 668, Plaintiffs do not object to the balance of the request.  

      Respectfully submitted, 
 

MARTIN DIAZ LAW FIRM 
 

_/s/ Martin A. Diaz________ 
MARTIN A. DIAZ 000009676 
ICIS  AT0002000 
1570 Shady Ct. NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350 telephone 
319-339-4426 facsimile 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 

           MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 
 
                                                                By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 
                                                               Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                               866 First Avenue NE 
                                                               P.O. Box 1261 
                                                              Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                              (319) 366-7888 
                                                              (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                              E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 
copy: Per EDMS 
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Ivo Bekavac, MD, PhD 

Dept. of Neurology 

1753 W. Ridgeway Avenue 

Suite 112 

Waterloo; IA 50701 

319.833.5954 

FAX 319.833.5955 

September 26, 2014 

RE: William McGrew 
DOB: 

Cedar 
Valley 

Medical· 
SPECIALISTS.p.e 

Mr. William McGrew comes in self-referral as well as his family for second opinion about 
stroke. 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: According to the patient and his family on August 5, 
2014 he had episode of visual problem, describes everything was greying on his eye lasting 
between one to two minutes. No associated weakness involving any part of his body. He was 
otherwise healthy except hypertension. He went to see Dr. Mauer, who send him to see Dr. 
Otoadese and CTA was done of the extracranial circulation on August 18,2014. It was read 
by Dr. Cammoun, who felt there was right ICA stenosis around 65%. I did review personally 
and showed to the patient and his daughter and son and my opinion stenosis of right ICA is 
approximately 40%. Subsequently Dr. Otoadese performed right carotid artery 
endarterectomy on September 2, 2014. Prior to the surgery patient was asymptomatic. He 
was not taking aspirin when this event occurred and was just started a week or so before the 
surgery. Extensive records reviewed around 60 pages. After surgery he was doing great and 
then very next morning around 7:10 it was noticed by nurse as well as his daughter the patient 
was confused and had left facial droop. Dr. Almullahassani, a neurologist was called who 
ordered CTA which apparently showed right ICA occlusion. CTA was done at 11 :05 and 
symptoms started around 7: 10 a.m. MRI of the brain showed acute right M2 territory 
ischemic infarct and some changes involving basal ganglia involving territory of the 
lenticulostriate arteries. Dr. Almullahassani requested second endarterectomy and clot 
removal. Apparently Dr. Otoadese was not willing to do so, but then Dr. Almullahassani 
according to the patient's daughter asked for opinion by Dr. Karimi, a vascular surgeon at 
Covenant Medical Center was about to transfer the patient, then finally Dr. Otoadese came 
back and performed right endarterectomy between 3:00 to 3:30 p.m. After the surgery the 
patient had complete weakness on the left side. Prior to that family is not sure whether he had 
any weakness involving his left hand at all. Also became confused and eyes were looking to 
the right side. He has been essentially the same since the second surgery. RepeatMRI done 
following day did reveal very similar area of infarction according to my review essentially 
unchanged from previous one done day before. The patient has been on aspirin for stroke 
prophylaxis 325 mg a day. Since the surgery he has been also complaining of lower back pain 
on the left side without shooting distally. No imaging of the lumbosacral spine. He has been 
doing stroke rehabilitation. The patient wants to know exactly the reasoning behind surgery 
whether first surgery and second surgery was indicated. 

REVIEW OF SYMPTOMS: Complete review of (14) systems and complete past medical 
and social history was performed using the Medical Questionnaire dated and signed 
September 26,2014. In addition to the above, no additional complaints. 

PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBIT 11
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William Mcgrew 
September 26,2014 
Page 2 

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Hypertension. 
SOCIAL HISTORY: He used to smoke one pack a day for 40 years, quit smoking 10 years ago. No 
alcohol. 
FAMILY HISTORY: Father died at the age of81 with myocardial infarction. Mother died at the age of 
63, ALS. 
ALLERGIES: None. 
PRESENT MEDICATIONS: Medications were reviewed and can be found on the patient information 
sheet located in the chart. 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: He is well developed and in no apparent distress. 
Vitals: Blood pressure 120/84 with a heart rate of 78 and respiratory rate of 16. 
HEENT: Head is atraumatic and normocephalic. Funduscopic examination not performed because of 
miosis. The rest of the ENT exam is normal. 
Neck: Supple. No JVD and no carotid bruits. No lymphadenopathy. 
Heart: Regular rhythm and rate. No murmur. 
Lungs: Clear to auscultation and percussion. 
Abdomen: Not examined. 
Extremities: No clubbing, cyanosis or edema. 
NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION: 
Orientation: He was found to be awake, aleli, and oriented X3. 
Recent and Remote Memory: Normal. 
Attention Span and Concentration: Normal. 
Cranial Nerve exam: There is conjugate gaze preference to the right side, but he can pass midline all the 
way to the opposite side. No nystagmus. Rest of cranial remarkable for left facial weakness, central type 
except visual field not tested. 
Motor Exam: Motor strength in left upper and lower extremities is 0/5, right side 5/5. 
Sensory Exam: Intact to all modalities. 
Reflexes: Brisk on the right side 3/4, left 3+/4. Plantar response in the left side is extensor, right is flexor. 
Gait: He is in a wheelchair, unable to walk 
Language: Intact. 
Fund of Knowledge: Normal. 
Speech: Normal. 
Test of Coordination: Finger-to-nose and heel-to-shin normal. 

IMPRESSION: 
1. The patient suffered right hemispheric embolic infarct after endarterectomy and occlusion of right 

internal carotid artery. Initially symptoms possibly related to amaurosis fugax, but 40% of stenosis 
was not significant to justify endarterectomy in my opinion. 

2. In my opinion second endarterectomy probably was not indicated particularly being done after almost 
eight hours after the new onset of symptoms. 

3. Right M2 territory embolic, aIiery-to-artery infarction. Not so much change in comparison to 
previous MRI of the brain. 

4. Lower back pain might be discogenic versus musculoskeletal in etiology. 

PLAN: 
1. Continue aspirin 325 mg a day for secondary stroke prophylaxis. 
2. Obtain an MRI of the lumbosacral spine. 
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William Mcgrew 
September 26~ 2014 
Page 3 

3. I will ask Dr. Halloran, neul'oradioiogist to review CTA because of discmpanoy between my l'eview 
and Dr. Cammoun review. Also we will ask him to review MRl done on September 3, 2014 and 
September 4, 2014. I encouraged the patient and his family to be very engaged in stroke 
rehabilitation. 

4. Reevaluate the patieI'lt in one 1110nth or earlier as needed. 
5. The patient will be notified as well as his family regarding MRI findings. 

6. Spent one hour with the patient and his family as well as reviewing records 
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McGrew, William M (MR # 92371812) DOB: 05/30/1945

Clinical Lab Results (continued)

Lab Results

No matching results found

Radiology Results (10/09/14 - 10/01/14)

Xray consultation referred [136743188] Resulted: 10/09/14 1426, Result status: Final result

Ordering provider: Ivo Bekavac, MD  10/01/14 1346 Resulted by: John I Halloran, MD
Performed:  - 10/01/14 1500 Resulting lab: UPH ALLEN MEMORIAL SUNQUEST RAD
Narrative:

  Allen Memorial Hospital                    General X-ray
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M                         Order No:14ARA24244
    1532 HAWTHORNE ST                        PT. LOC:
    WATERLOO, IA 50702                       ADMIT HX:

    PHONE: 
   ADMITTING DR: BEKAVAC,IVO MD              DOB: 
   ORDERING DR:   BEKAVAC,IVO MD             FIN#: 562501743
   ATTENDING DR:
   CC:                                       THIS COPY TO DR.
   MEDICAL RECORD NUMBER: 92371812           DOCUMENT STATUS: Final
                                            Exam Date:10/01/2014
   PROCEDURE(S):
          OUTSIDE FILMS FOR REVIEW
          OR READING

   REASON FOR EXAM:visual disturbance reading of outside films

CONSULTATION/REVIEW OF OUTSIDE FILMS:

I have been consulted to review a CT angiogram performed on William
McGrew at ADI on August 18, 2014.  The examination was reviewed on a
3-D physician workstation.  Volume rendered and maximum intensity
projection images were generated and reviewed

FINDINGS:
Aortic arch: Type II aortic arch.  Minimal calcific atherosclerosis
aortic arch. Minimal atherosclerosis in origin of the left common
carotid artery without a hemodynamically significant narrowing. Origin
of the right innominate and left subclavian arteries widely patent.

Right carotid: Small focus of calcific atherosclerosis at the origin
of ICA producing a 32% diameter stenosis.  The post bulbar cervical
ICA is widely patent.

The minimal right ICA diameter measures 3.2 cm.  Post bulbar normal
ICA diameter measures 4.7 cm

Left carotid: Heterogeneous atherosclerosis of the carotid bulb
producing 22% maximal lumen diameter stenosis of the proximal ICA.
The post bulbar cervical ICA is widely patent.  Circumferential
noncalcified moderate stenosis of origin of ECA.

The minimal left ICA diameter measures 4.2 mm.  Post bulbar normal ICA
lumen diameter measures 5.4 cm.

Vertebrals: Short segmental heterogeneous atherosclerotic plaque
producing near occlusive narrowing of the distal right vertebral
artery and focal noncalcific moderate stenosis of the distal left
vertebral artery.

dso

Signed by: John I Halloran MD on 10/9/2014 2:23 PM
 Report created with Powerscribe 360

   ALLEN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, WATERLOO IA.         PAGE 2 of 2
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M
    OUTSIDE FILMS FOR REVIEW           DOCUMENT STATUS:  Final

Generated on 3/30/2016 11:42 AM Page 709
10/01/14 1500

Specimen Collection
Type Source Collected On
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McGrew, William M (MR # 92371812) DOB: 05/30/1945

Radiology Results (10/09/14 - 10/01/14) (continued)

Xray consultation referred [136743188] (continued) Resulted: 10/09/14 1426, Result status: Final result

MRI Lumbar spine wo contrast [136743186] Resulted: 10/01/14 1459, Result status: Final result

Ordering provider: Ivo Bekavac, MD  10/01/14 1303 Resulted by: John I Halloran, MD
Performed:  - 10/01/14 1423 Resulting lab: UPH ALLEN MEMORIAL SUNQUEST RAD
Narrative:

  Allen Memorial Hospital                    MRI Department
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M                         Order No:14AMR3576
    1532 HAWTHORNE ST                        PT. LOC:
    WATERLOO, IA 50702                       ADMIT HX:

    PHONE:
   ADMITTING DR: BEKAVAC,IVO MD              DOB: 
   ORDERING DR:   BEKAVAC,IVO MD             FIN#: 562501743
   ATTENDING DR:
   CC:                                       THIS COPY TO DR.
   MEDICAL RECORD NUMBER: 92371812           DOCUMENT STATUS: Final
                                            Exam Date:10/01/2014
   PROCEDURE(S):
          MR SPINE LUMBAR WO
          CONTRAST USUAL

   REASON FOR EXAM:low back pain

TECHNIQUE:  Multiplanar, multisequence imaging of the lumbar spine
performed.

CLINCAL HISTORY: see above REASON FOR EXAM

CORRELATION: None available.

FINDINGS:

L1-2 level: Negative

L2-3 level: Negative

L3-4 level: Slight disc space narrowing.  Very broad-based far right
lateral disc herniation.  Protruding disc fills inferior recess the
right neural foramen and closely approximates right L3 nerve.
Moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.  Mild spinal canal
stenosis.

L4-5 level: Moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy, grade I
spondylolisthesis, symmetric disc bulge, moderate disc space narrowing
and small endplate osteophytes.  Mild spinal canal and bilateral
neural foraminal stenosis.

L5-S1 level: Mild bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.

IMPRESSION:
1.  L3-4 level far right lateral disc herniation, mild spinal canal
stenosis and moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.
2.  L4-5 level degenerative facet arthropathy, spondylolisthesis, and
mild spinal canal and bilateral neural foraminal stenosis.

Signed by: John I Halloran MD on 10/1/2014 2:56 PM
 Report created with Powerscribe 360

   ALLEN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, WATERLOO IA.         PAGE 2 of 2
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M
    MR SPINE LUMBAR WO CONTR           DOCUMENT STATUS:  Final

Testing Performed By
Lab - Abbreviation Name Director Address Valid Date Range
49 - WLARAD UPH ALLEN MEMORIAL

SUNQUEST RAD
Unknown Waterloo IA 10/13/13 1803 - Present

Generated on 3/30/2016 11:42 AM Page 710

Specimen Collection
Type Source Collected On

10/01/14 1423
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF IOWA IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW 
    
 Plaintiffs,           
v.          
                
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC 
SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.; and DRISS 
CAMMOUN, M.D.            
  
 Defendant. 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
  
 Case No. LACV130355 
 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ DESIGNATION OF 
EXPERTS 

 
 
 

 COME NOW the Plaintiffs and hereby designate the following persons 

who may be called as expert witnesses at the time of trial in the above 

referenced matter: 

 1.     Dr. Carl Warren Adams 
                  101 Becket Lake Dr. @ Celadon 
         Durango, CO 81301-8853 
 
 Dr. Adams is a Board Certified Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgeon 

including Trauma and Surgical Critical Care. Dr. Adams will be asked to 

comment on the standard of care in the evaluation (imaging and surgery), care 

and treatment of an individual like Bill McGrew; the breach of that standard of 

care; and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach of the standard 

of care and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his spouse.   

 Dr. Adams’ education, training, experience, and qualifications to testify as 

an expert witness are set forth in his curriculum vitae which is being provided to 

counsel. 
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 2.     Dr. Ivo Bekavac 
                  1735 W. Ridgeway Ave., Suite 112 
        Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 Dr. Bekavac is a Board Certified Neurologist, with Subspecialty Board 

Certification in Vascular Neurology and Neuroimaging (among others) who, as a 

treating physician, will be asked to comment on the standard of care in the 

evaluation (imaging and surgery), care and treatment of an individual like Bill 

McGrew; the breach of that standard of care; the harm sustained by Bill McGrew;  

and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach of the standard of care 

and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his spouse. He will 

also be asked to comment on the evaluation, care and treatment he has provided 

to Bill McGrew since he sustained the stroke on September 2-3, 2014.  

 Dr. Bekavac’s education, training, experience, and qualifications to testify 

as an expert witness are set forth in his curriculum vitae which has been provided 

to counsel. 

 3.       Dr. John Halloran 
  1825 Logan Ave. 
  Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 Dr. Halloran is a Board-Certified Neuroradiologist who will be asked to 

comment on the evaluation of imaging studies on Bill McGrew that he reviewed 

at the request of Dr. Bekavac. He will also be asked to comment on the standard 

of care in the imaging evaluation of an individual like Bill McGrew, any breach of 

that standard of care, and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach 

of the standard of care and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew 

and his spouse.  
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 A professional summary of Dr. Halloran’s education, training, experience, 

and qualifications to testify as an expert witness can be found at the website for 

UnityPoint Health: www.unitypoint.org/waterloo. A CV may be provided later. 

 4.      Kent Jayne 
         502 Augusta Circle 
          North Liberty, Iowa 52317 
 

Mr. Jayne is a Certified Life Care Planner, vocational rehabilitation 

specialist and an economist who has been asked to develop a life care plan for 

Bill McGrew and can then testify to the amount of money needed to fund that life 

care plan. Depending on how the court rules on the issue of a lien for medical 

expenses, he may be asked to determine what medical bills are related to the 

injuries and damages sustained by Bill McGrew due to the negligence of the 

defendants.  

Mr. Jayne’s education, training, experience, and qualifications are as set 

forth in his curriculum vitae, which is being provided to counsel.  

 The following witnesses are "experts" in that they have scientific, technical 

or other specialized knowledge.  However, these individuals (like Dr. Bekavac 

and Dr. Halloran) have not been retained in anticipation of litigation, and their 

expert opinions, if any, have not been developed in anticipation of litigation, but 

rather arise from the fact that these individuals may be treating physicians to the 

Plaintiff or have such other connection to this litigation that they are fact 

witnesses with specialized expertise. 

5.  All of Bill McGrew’s treating health care providers as disclosed in the  
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discovery process. This includes all individuals disclosed in depositions including 

the defendants.  

 6.  All other providers of services, assistive devices, educational care, 

custodial care and rehabilitative care as disclosed in the discovery process. 

7.   Plaintiffs reserve the right to call any other treating health care  

provider to testify to Bill McGrew’s health history and potentially to causation and 

damages. 

 8.   Plaintiff reserves the right to utilize, as experts, those individuals    

designated by the defendants in their designation to the Court. 
 

9.  Plaintiff reserves the right to call any rebuttal expert witnesses to 

any expert witness designated by defendants that raise issues otherwise not 

anticipated or expected.  

                                              Respectfully submitted, 
 
MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 

 
                                          By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 

                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                     E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 

  
      _/s/ Martin A. Diaz_______ 
      Martin A. Diaz  000009676 
      1570 Shady Ct NW 

Swisher, IA  52338 
      phone           319 339 4350 
      facsimile       319 339 4426 
      marty@martindiazlawfirm.com 
      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Copy to all counsel via EDMS 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C.; and DRISS CAMMOUN, M.D., 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFF WILLIAM MCGREW’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL ANSWER TO 
INTERROGATORY NO. 16 
PROPOUNDED BY DEFENDANT 
OTOADESE (Retained Experts) 

 
 COMES NOW Plaintiff William McGrew and hereby submits his Supplemental 

Answer to Interrogatory No.  16 propounded by Defendant Otoadese in the above case. 

     
        
       _/s/ Martin A. Diaz___  
       Martin A. Diaz 000009676 

ICIS AT0002000  
1570 Shady Ct NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350  
319-339-4426 fax   

 marty@martindiazlawfirm.com  
 Attorney for Plaintiffs 

 
 
Copy: Counsel of Record on March 7, 2018 (with report of Dr. Adams sent on March 8, 2018) 
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 16. List the name, address, telephone number, and employer's name, address 

and telephone number of each person you expect to call as an expert witness (including, 

but not limited to, practitioners of the healing art) at trial, and with respect to each such 

individual, state: 

 
 (a) The educational and occupational background of the expert; 
 
 (b) All litigation in which each expert has been consulted or has given a 

deposition or has testified in trial, including the name and address of 
the court in which each case was pending, the names of the plaintiffs 
and defendants in each case, the name and address of the person 
engaging the services of such expert, the name of the person on 
whose behalf the expert testified, and whether such person was a 
plaintiff or defendant in the case; 

 
 (c) The subject matter or area on which each expert will testify; 
 
 (d) The substance of the facts and opinions, and a summary of the 

grounds for each opinion of each expert named by you in answer to 
this interrogatory; 

 
 (e) Whether each identified expert has completed preparation for 

testifying and is ready to express final opinions in this case, or, if the 
answer is to the contrary, when each expert will have completed 
preparation and will be ready to express final opinions in this case; 
and 

 
 
 NOTE:  Rule of Civil Procedure 1.508(1)(a) also requires that for an expert retained 
in anticipation of litigation or for trial the expert shall SIGN the answer.  Please comply 
with this rule.             
                                            
 ANSWER: 
 
 Plaintiffs will disclose the names of any retained expert witnesses as part of their 
designation to the court consistent with the deadline established. 
 Otherwise, Plaintiff intends to call the following people who were not retained 
for purposes of this case: 
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 1.    One or more members of the staff at New Aldaya Lifescapes Nursing Home, 
7511 University Avenue, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
 2.     Dr. John Musgrave, 212 West Dale Street, Waterloo, Iowa 50703 
 
 3.     Dr. Richard Mauer, Mauer Eye Center, 2515 Cyclone Drive, Waterloo, Iowa 
50701 
  
 4.    Dr. Ivo Bekavac, 1735 W. Ridgeway Ave., Suite 112, Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 6.    Dr. John Halloran, P O Box 2758, Waterloo, Iowa 50704 
 
 7.    To the extent needed, any other healthcare provider to discuss evaluation, 
care and treatment in the past and future for Bill McGrew.  
 
 The above individuals can testify to the evaluation, care and treatment of Bill 
McGrew and can testify to those facts known, mental impressions formed and opinions 
held as a result of their contact with him. This may include standard of care opinions 
(as to Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran), causation opinions (Dr. Bekavac), permanency 
(Dr. Bekavac) and future care and treatment (Dr. Bekavac, New Aldaya, and Dr. 
Musgrave).  
 
SUPPLEMENT TO INTERROGATORY 16 PURSUANT TO IRCP 1.500(2)(b) 
 
Dr. Carl Warren Adams 
101 Becket Lake Dr. @ Celadon 
Durango, CO 81301-8853 
 
(a) Please refer to his CV previously produced. 
 
(b) Please refer to the list of cases previously provided 
 
(c) Dr. Adams is a Board Certified Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgeon including 
Trauma and Surgical Critical Care. Dr. Adams will be asked to comment on the 
standard of care in the evaluation (imaging and surgery), care and treatment of an 
individual like Bill McGrew; the breach of that standard of care; and the cause-and-
effect relationship between the breach of the standard of care and any damages and 
injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his spouse.   
 
(d)  Attached is the report from Dr. Adams.  
 
(e)   Dr. Adams is generally ready to be deposed. However, he will be given the 
opportunity to read the deposition of Dr. Otoadese and Dr. Cammoun, if taken, before 
he is deposed.   
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Kent Jayne 
502 Augusta Circle 
North Liberty, Iowa 52317 
 
(a) Please refer to his CV previously produced. 
 
(b) Please refer to the list of cases previously provided 
 
(c)  Mr. Jayne is a Certified Life Care Planner, vocational rehabilitation specialist and an 
economist who has been asked to develop a life care plan for Bill McGrew and can then 
testify to the amount of money needed to fund that life care plan. Depending on how 
the court rules on the issue of a lien for medical expenses, he may be asked to 
determine what medical bills are related to the injuries and damages sustained by Bill 
McGrew due to the negligence of the defendants.  
 
(d)  Attached is the report from Mr. Jayne. Please also see the “Handicapped 
Accessibility Updates to Home” provided by Magee Construction Company which was 
provided to Mr. Jayne after he prepared his report.  
 
(e)  Mr. Jayne is prepared to be deposed. However, he may be review additional 
information as Mr. McGrew’s condition is permanent and he requires constant care.  
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C.; and DRISS CAMMOUN, M.D., 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFF WILLIAM MCGREW’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL ANSWER TO 
INTERROGATORY NO. 16 
PROPOUNDED BY DEFENDANT 
OTOADESE (Treating Physicians) 

 
 COMES NOW Plaintiff William McGrew and hereby submits his Supplemental 

Answer to Interrogatory No.  9 propounded by Defendant Otoadese in the above case. 

     
        
       _/s/ Martin A. Diaz___  
       Martin A. Diaz 000009676 

ICIS AT0002000  
1570 Shady Ct NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350  
319-339-4426 fax   

 marty@martindiazlawfirm.com  
 Attorney for Plaintiffs 

 
 
Copy: Counsel of Record on March 7, 2018  
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 16. List the name, address, telephone number, and employer's name, address 

and telephone number of each person you expect to call as an expert witness (including, 

but not limited to, practitioners of the healing art) at trial, and with respect to each such 

individual, state: 

 
 (a) The educational and occupational background of the expert; 
 
 (b) All litigation in which each expert has been consulted or has given a 

deposition or has testified in trial, including the name and address of 
the court in which each case was pending, the names of the plaintiffs 
and defendants in each case, the name and address of the person 
engaging the services of such expert, the name of the person on 
whose behalf the expert testified, and whether such person was a 
plaintiff or defendant in the case; 

 
 (c) The subject matter or area on which each expert will testify; 
 
 (d) The substance of the facts and opinions, and a summary of the 

grounds for each opinion of each expert named by you in answer to 
this interrogatory; 

 
 (e) Whether each identified expert has completed preparation for 

testifying and is ready to express final opinions in this case, or, if the 
answer is to the contrary, when each expert will have completed 
preparation and will be ready to express final opinions in this case; 
and 

 
 
 NOTE:  Rule of Civil Procedure 1.508(1)(a) also requires that for an expert retained 
in anticipation of litigation or for trial the expert shall SIGN the answer.  Please comply 
with this rule.             
                                            
 ANSWER: 
 
 Plaintiffs will disclose the names of any retained expert witnesses as part of their 
designation to the court consistent with the deadline established. 
 Otherwise, Plaintiff intends to call the following people who were not retained 
for purposes of this case: 
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 1.    One or more members of the staff at New Aldaya Lifescapes Nursing Home, 
7511 University Avenue, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
 2.     Dr. John Musgrave, 212 West Dale Street, Waterloo, Iowa 50703 
 
 3.     Dr. Richard Mauer, Mauer Eye Center, 2515 Cyclone Drive, Waterloo, Iowa 
50701 
  
 4.    Dr. Ivo Bekavac, 1735 W. Ridgeway Ave., Suite 112, Waterloo, Iowa 50701 
 
 6.    Dr. John Halloran, P O Box 2758, Waterloo, Iowa 50704 
 
 7.    To the extent needed, any other healthcare provider to discuss evaluation, 
care and treatment in the past and future for Bill McGrew.  
 
 The above individuals can testify to the evaluation, care and treatment of Bill 
McGrew and can testify to those facts known, mental impressions formed and opinions 
held as a result of their contact with him. This may include standard of care opinions 
(as to Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran), causation opinions (Dr. Bekavac), permanency 
(Dr. Bekavac) and future care and treatment (Dr. Bekavac, New Aldaya, and Dr. 
Musgrave).  
 
SUPPLEMENT TO INTERROGATORY 16 PURSUANT TO IRCP 1.500(2)(c) 
 
Dr. John Musgrave, Dr. Matthew Smith, Dr. Richard Mauer, Dr. Ivo Bekavac, and Dr. 
John Halloran may testify pursuant to previously produced medical records and 
Plaintiff’s Designation of Experts, filed February 6, 2018.   
 
Dr. Bekavac will testify as to the standard of care, causation, and permanency.  In his 
medical record dated September 26, 2014, Dr. Bekavac reviewed the CTA and 
determined a stenosis of the right ICA of approximately 40%.  40% stenosis is not 
sufficient to justify endarterectomy.  The first and therefore the second endarterectomy 
were unnecessary and violated the standard of care. Dr. Bekavac is a Board Certified 
Neurologist, with Subspecialty Board Certification in Vascular Neurology and 
Neuroimaging (among others) who, as a treating physician, will be asked to comment 
on the standard of care in the evaluation (imaging and surgery), care and treatment of 
an individual like Bill McGrew; the breach of that standard of care; the harm sustained 
by Bill McGrew; and the cause-and-effect relationship between the breach of the 
standard of care and any damages and injuries sustained by Bill McGrew and his 
spouse. He will also be asked to comment on the evaluation, care and treatment he has 
provided to Bill McGrew since he sustained the stroke on September 2-3, 2014. 
 
Dr. Halloran, in his medical record dated October 9, 2014, reviewed the CTA and 
assessed a stenosis of 32%.  Dr. Cammoun and Dr. Otoadese misread the CTA and 
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violated the applicable standard of care.  Dr. Halloran is a Board-Certified 
Neuroradiologist who will be asked to comment on the evaluation of imaging studies 
on Bill McGrew that he reviewed at the request of Dr. Bekavac. He will also be asked to 
comment on the standard of care in the imaging evaluation of an individual like Bill 
McGrew, any breach of that standard of care, and the cause-and-effect relationship 
between the breach of the standard of care and any damages and injuries sustained by 
Bill McGrew and his spouse. 
 
Dr. Musgrave may be asked to testify about Bill McGrew’s medical history before and 
after his stroke and his care and treatment of Bill McGrew. 
 
Dr. Maurer may be asked to testify about his care and treatment of Bill McGrew.  
 
Dr. Smith has provided handwritten responses to questions propounded by Kent Jayne 
and those responses are part of the report prepared by Mr. Jayne. In addition, Dr. Smith 
may be asked to testify to his care and treatment of Bill McGrew.  
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 

 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C. 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ WITNESS LIST, LIST 
OF EXHIBITS AND DESIGNATION 

OF DEPOSITION PORTIONS 
 

 

  

 COMES NOW the Plaintiff and advises the court and Defendant of his list of 

prospective Exhibits for the upcoming trial and requests that Defendant provide 

designations as to the admissibility of these exhibits: 

WITNESS LIST 

In addition to the Plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs anticipate calling the following witnesses: 
 
1.   Lisa Knipp, daughter of Plaintiffs. 
 
2.         Michelle McGrew, daughter of the Plaintiffs.  
 
3.       Melanie Bird, daughter of the Plaintiffs.  
 
4.       Troy McGrew, son of the Plaintiffs.  
 
5.       Linda Morgan, neighbor. 
 
6.       Kyle Larson, friend of Bill 
 
7.       Dr. Richard Mauer, Opthalmologist 
 
8.     Dr. Ivo Bekavac, Neurologist 
 
9.     Dr. John Halloran,  Neuroradiologist 
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10.     Dr. Carl Adams, Durango, CO 
 
11.     Allyson Landphair, ARNP 
 
12.     Aubrey Donlea, PCT at Allen Memorial Hospital 
 
13.    Rachel Havens, RN at Allen Hospital 
 
14.    Dr. Otoadese 
 
15.    Kent Jayne, North Liberty 
 
16.   Claire Boyle, Social Worker at New Aldaya 
 
Plaintiffs reserve the right to call the following possible witnesses: 
 
1.     All persons disclosed during discovery.  
 
2.     All rebuttal witness. 
 
3.      All foundation witnesses.  
 
4.      All witnesses declared by Defendants. 
 
5.      Any expert designated by Defendants.  
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EXHIBIT LIST 

EXHIBIT 
NUMBER 

DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT DEFENDANT’S 
DESIGNATION 

1 Dr. Mauer: plan note and ophthalmology chart note for 
July 25, 2014 for Bill McGrew 

 

2 Dr. Mauer: request for Ultrasound and addendum with 
results of Ultrasound 

 

2A Ultrasound report of August 6, 2014  

3 Informed Consent for Cataract Surgery for August 20, 
2014 

 

4 Dr. Otoadese: Initial Visit of August 18, 2014  

5 Dr. Cammoun: report of CT angiogram of August 18, 
2014 

 

6 Dr. Mauer: telephone message canceling cataract 
surgery  

 

7 Dr. Otoadese: Second visit of August 20, 2014  

8 Operative report of September 2, 2014  

9 Discharge summary for September 2, 2014 admission 
authored by Ms. Landphair 

 

10 Dr. Otoadese: encounter note for October 2, 2014  

11 Dr. Bekavac: progress note for September 26, 2014  

11A Dr. Bekavac: CV  

12 Dr. Bekavac: progress note for October 30, 2014  

13 Dr. Halloran: imaging reports for October 1, 2014  

13A Dr. Halloran: Resume or qualifications  

14 September 2, 2014 surgery timeline   

15 Nurse Borrett: significant event note for September 3, 
2014 at 7:20 AM 

 

16 Select Nursing flowsheets for September 3, 2014  

17 Dr. Almullahassani: Consultation notes in September 
2014 

 

18 Operative report of September 3, 2014  

19A Reports: CT and MRI of Head between 849am and 
932am on September 3, 2014 

 

19B Reports: CT Angiogram at 1245pm on September 3, 
2014 

 

19C Reports: MR Angiogram and MRI Brain at 1031am on 
September 4, 2014 
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20 Dr. Manshadi: Consultation report of September 5, 2014  

21 Gastroenterology Notes and Operative report for 
Endoscopy on September 8, 2014 

 

22 Dr. Almullahassani: Consultation report of January 26, 
2015 

 

23 Dr. Smith: Progress note of September 21, 2018  

24 Dr. Bekavac: all other progress notes and relevant 
records 

 

25 Diagram prepared by Dr. Cammoun  

25A Diagram prepared by Dr. Otoadese  

26 Dr. Otoadese: other relevant medical records  

27 Dr. Musgrave: progress notes for 8-27-14 and 9-30-14  

28 Dr. Inamdar: consultation report of November 6, 2014  

29 Mayo Clinic: select records  

30 New Aldaya: select records  

31-34 Photos before his injuries  

35 Photos taken Friday before surgery and day of surgery  

36 Photo of McGrew Home exterior  

37 Photo of McGrew backyard  

38 Photo of McGrew garage  

39 Photos at McGrew Home Interior  

39A-B Photos of golf at Beaver Hills on 8.29.14  

40 Report of Kent Jayne   

40A Kent Jayne: Report from Dr. Smith   

40B Kent Jayne: CV  

41 Dr. Adams: CV  

42-50 Reserved for other exhibits and demonstrative aids. This 
includes a calendar (July to October 2014) and possible 
medical illustrations. 
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AMENDED DESIGNATION OF DEPOSITION PORTIONS 

 Pursuant to IRCP 1.704(2), Plaintiffs will designate 5 separate portions from the 

deposition of Dr. Otoadese. The first will be shown by videotape to the jury and relates 

to Dr. Otoadese’s qualifications. The remaining 4 portions will be read into the record in 

the presence of the jury throughout the trial and deal with different aspects of the 

medical care and treatment of Mr. McGrew. Pursuant to Iowa Rule 1.705(1), Defendant 

is requested to offer any other part of the deposition “relevant to the portion offered.” 

Plaintiffs request that any additional portions be provided at least 10 days before trial so 

that any video editing can be performed. If not provided by then, Plaintiff will only show 

that portion of the video designated and will read into the record any other relevant 

portion. 

DEPONENT BEGINNING PAGE AND LINE ENDING PAGE AND LINE 

DR. OTOADESE #1 (By Video) 
---Qualifications 

Page 4, L. 11 Page 4, L. 25 

 Page 5, L. 1 Page 5, L. 25 

 Page 6, L. 1 Page 6, L.25 

 Page 7, L. 1 Page 7, L. 25 

 Page 8, L. 1 Page 8, L. 25 

 Page 9, L. 1 Page 9, L. 4 

 Page 10, L. 15 Page 10, L. 21 

 Page 11, L. 21 Page 11, L. 25 

 Page 12, L. 1 Page 12, L. 25 

 Page 13, L. 1  Page 13, L. 25 

 Page 14, L. 1  Page 14, L. 25 

 Page 15, L. 1 Page 15, L. 25 

 Page 16, L. 1 Page 16, L. 25 
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 Page 17, L. 1 Page 17, L. 25 

 Page 18, L. 1 Page 18, L. 25 

 Page 19, L. 1 Page 19, L. 25 

 Page 20, L. 1 Page 20, L. 25 

 Page 21, L. 1 Page 21, L. 25 

 Page 22, L. 1 Page 22, L. 15 

 Page 23, L. 8 Page 23, L. 25 

 Page 24, L. 1 Page 24, L. 18 

 

DEPONENT BEGINNING PAGE AND LINE ENDING PAGE AND LINE 

DR. OTOADESE #2 (Read)--- 
Events of September 3, 2014  

Page 37, L. 25 -- 

 Page 38, L. 1 Page 38, L. 24 

 Page 39, L. 8 Page 39, L. 25 

 Page 40, L. 1 Page 40, L. 25 

 Page 41, L. 1 Page 41, L.25 

 Page 42, L. 1 Page 42, L.13 

 Page 42, L. 23 Page 42, L. 25 

 Page 43, L. 1 Page 43, L.25 

 Page 44, L. 1 Page 44, L.25 

 Page 45, L. 1 Page 45, L. 25 

 Page 46, L. 1 Page 46, L.9 

 Page 47, L. 14 Page 47, L.25 

 Page 48, L. 1 Page 48, L. 25 

 Page 49, L. 1 Page 49, L.3 

 

DEPONENT BEGINNING PAGE AND LINE ENDING PAGE AND LINE 

DR. OTOADESE #3 (Read)--- 
August 18, 2014 Visit 

Page 58, L. 9 Page 58, L.25 
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 Page 59, L. 1 Page 59, L. 25 

 Page 60, L. 1 Page 60, L.25 

 Page 61, L. 1 Page 61, L.3 

 Page 63, L. 4 Page 63, L. 25 

 Page 64, L. 1 Page 64, L. 16 

 

DEPONENT 
 

BEGINNING PAGE AND LINE ENDING PAGE AND LINE 

DR. OTOADESE #4 (Read)---
Ultrasound 

Page 66, L. 17 Page 66, L.25 

 Page 67, L. 1 
 

Page 67, L.25 

 Page 68, L. 1 
 

Page 68, L.23 

 Page 70, L. 21 
 

Page 70, L. 25 

 Page 71, L. 1 
 

Page 71, L. 25 

 Page 72, L. 1 
 

Page 72, L. 25 

 Page 73, L. 1 
 

Page 73, L. 3 

 
DEPONENT 

 
BEGINNING PAGE AND LINE ENDING PAGE AND LINE 

DR. OTOADESE #5 (Read)--- 
Informed Consent 

 

Page 95, L. 3 Page 95, L.25 

 Page 96, L. 1 
 

Page 96, L.25 

 Page 97, L.1 
 

Page 97, L.16 

 Page 98, L. 7 
 

Page 98, L. 25 

 Page 99, L.1 
 

Page 99, L.22 

 Page 99, L. 24 
 

Page 99, L.25 

 Page 100, L. 1 
 

Page 100, L.3 
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                               Respectfully submitted, 

                   

                         _/s/ Martin A. Diaz_________ 
         Martin A. Diaz 000009676 
                         ICIS AT0002000 
     1570 Shady Ct NW 
     Swisher, IA 52338 
     phone 319 339 4350 
     facsimile 319 339 4426 
     marty@martindiazlawfirm.com 
     Attorney for Plaintiff 
 

MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 
 
                                                   By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 
                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                    E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 
 
copy: 
Per EDMS 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK 
COUNTY

WILLIAM MCGREW and 
ELAINE MCGREW,

         Plaintiffs,

    vs.

EROMOSELE OTOADESE, 
M.D.; NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND 
THORACIC SURGERY 
CLINIC, P.D., and 
DRISS CAMMOUN, M.D., 

         Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

  NO. LACV130355

  Videotaped 

  Deposition of 

  EROMOSELE OTOADESE, 
  M.D.

    Videotaped Deposition of EROMOSELE 

OTOADESE, M.D., taken before Julie M. Kluber, 

Certified Shorthand Reporter, commencing at 

9:32 a.m., March 8, 2018, at 515 Main Street, 

Suite E, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Julie M. Kluber, CSR, RMR
3515 Lochwood Drive NE
Cedar Rapids, IA 52402

319-286-1717
1-866-412-4766
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APPEARANCES

Plaintiffs by:    MARTIN A. DIAZ
Attorney at Law
1570 Shady Court NW
Swisher, IA  52338
      and
MARK L. CHIPOKAS
Attorney at Law
866 First Avenue NE
P.O. Box 1261
Cedar Rapids, IA  52406-1261

Defendants Otoadese 
and Northern Iowa 
Cardiovascular and 
Thoracic Surgery 
Clinic by:   

JENNIFER E. RINDEN 
VINCENT S. GEIS  
Attorneys at Law
115 Third Street SE, Suite 500 
P. O. Box 2107 
Cedar Rapids, IA  52406-2107 

Defendant Cammoun 
by:

Videographer:

GEORGE L. WEILEIN
Attorney at Law 
515 Main Street, Suite E 
P. O. Box 724 
Cedar Falls, IA  50613 
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PLAINTIFFS' EXCERPT #1 
App. 174



EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.          5-8-18

Page 3 to 3  

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

3

INDEX OF EXAMINATION

         Lawyer                   Page      

         Mr. Diaz                 4, 121 

         Ms. Rinden             119, 129    

         

INDEX OF EXHIBITS    

Number   Exhibit                          ID'd 

   1     Curriculum Vitae of Eromosele
          Otoadese, M.D.                    4

   5     8-6-14 carotid study              66

   6     8-18-14 CT angiogram of neck
          with contrast report             79

 7       8-28-14 office visit note        102

 8       Calendar page September 2014      34

   9     9-2-14 Procedure Report           29

  17     10-3-14 bilateral carotid
          arteries duplex ultrasound
          report                           51

  18     10-3-14 office visit note         51

  22     11-16-16 statement from NIA
          Cardiovascular Thoracic to
          William McGrew                   56

  23     8-28-14 consultation report       61

  24     Dr. Otoadese's hand-drawn
          diagram of carotid artery        85
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4
PROCEEDINGS1

THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  Good morning.  We're on2
the record at 9:32 a.m., March 8, 2018, at the3
law offices of Weilein and Boller, P.C., in4
Cedar Falls, Iowa.5

EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.,6
called as a witness, having been first duly7
sworn, testified as follows:8

DIRECT EXAMINATION9
BY MR. DIAZ:10
Doctor, could you please introduce yourself by11 Q.
providing us with your full name.12
Anthony Eromosele Otoadese.13 A.
All right.  And I understand you like to go by14 Q.
Dr. Tony?15
Yes.16 A.
Okay.  Doctor, in front of you is a document17 Q.
marked Exhibit 1, which is -- my understanding18
is this is your c.v. that was provided to us.19
Can you look at it and let me know if this is20
up to date.21
Yes, it is.22 A.
Okay.  My understanding is you were born in23 Q.
Nigeria?24
Yes.25 A.

5
And what year did you come to the1 Q.
United States?2
1971.3 A.
And for what purpose did you come to the U.S.?4 Q.
To study.5 A.
And what did you want to study when you first6 Q.
came in 1971?7
I wanted to go to college to get an education8 A.
first.  I wanted to do sociology in college,9
but I ended up majoring in chemistry.10
Okay.  My understanding is you went to the11 Q.
University of California at Santa Cruz and you12
got a degree in 1978.13
Yes.14 A.
And a chemistry major?15 Q.
Chemistry, yes.16 A.
Okay.  And then the next thing that I have on17 Q.
your c.v. is that you then went to medical18
school at the State University of New York19
Downstate in Brooklyn and got your medical20
degree in 1987.21
Yes.22 A.
Okay.  Your c.v. doesn't tell us what you did23 Q.
between 1978 and 1987.  Can you tell us what24
you did?25

6
I did --  Yeah, I did -- I did graduate work in1 A.
biochemistry.2
So you were a student, then, the entire time3 Q.
or --4
Yes.5 A.
-- only part of that time?6 Q.
No.  I was a student the whole time.7 A.
So when you came to the United States in 1971,8 Q.
did you come to go to college or -- or was it9
high school or what was that?10
I finished high school in Costa Mesa in11 A.
California, then went to college.12
Okay.  So pretty much from when you came to the13 Q.
U.S. in 1971 up until 1987, when you start14
medical school, you are -- you're a student.15
Correct?16
Yes.  Graduate student, yes.17 A.
Right.  Both high school, undergrad, graduate,18 Q.
and now you're going to go to medical school.19
Medical school, yes.20 A.
Okay.  And then you're in medical school up21 Q.
until 1987, and then from there you do your22
residency, your fellowship -- I'm sorry, your23
internship, your residency, and then24
fellowships that take you all the way up to25

7
1996.  Correct?1
Yes.  Correct.2 A.
So essentially you're a student from 1971 up3 Q.
until 1996.4
Yes.5 A.
Okay.  And the way you get to Iowa is you do6 Q.
your fellowship at the University of Iowa7
Hospitals and Clinics.8
Yes, I did.9 A.
Okay.  Now, have you done any additional10 Q.
education other than what we see up through11
1996?12
As far as -- you mean college education or --13 A.
or specialty training?  I don't understand what14
the question is.15
Sure.  So your c.v. takes us all the way up to16 Q.
1996, and my understanding is that you start17
working, then, in Waterloo in around 1996?18
Yes.  I finished --  This is the only job I19 A.
ever had.  I finished, I took a job here, and20
I've been here since then.21
Okay.  And what I'm interested in knowing is in22 Q.
addition to what you already have on your c.v.,23
is there any additional medical education or24
training that you've had since 1996?25
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8
Over the years, yes.  I --  You know, I got1 A.
into interventional vascular surgery and I took2
training in this.3
So what's interventional vascular work?  What4 Q.
is that?5
Interventional endovascular procedures, using6 A.
balloons and stents to supplement, to7
complement the open surgeries that I do.8
Okay.  So up through 1996 in terms of your9 Q.
training, was your training limited to open10
type procedures?11
Open, yes.12 A.
And did you start learning endovascular work?13 Q.
After that.14 A.
After that.15 Q.
Right.16 A.
Okay.  And do you list that anywhere on your17 Q.
c.v.?18
No, you don't -- I don't need to.  Just --19 A.
It's just not --  I didn't get diplomas or20
anything from it, so --21
Or certificates?22 Q.
No certificates, no.23 A.
Well, when you --24 Q.
They're meetings.  You go to meetings.  Some of25 A.

9
them a week, some of them two weeks.  Hands-on1
experience and things, yeah.2
Okay.  And --3 Q.
I did that.4 A.

10

My understanding is that practically all of15 Q.
your hospital work is at Allen Memorial16
Hospital.  Is that right?17
Yes, yes.18 A.
I think at one time you said it was 99 percent19 Q.
of your work?20
Yeah.  I would say that, yeah.21 A.

Okay.  And my understanding that once you21 Q.
finished your training at University Hospitals22
and went into private practice, you came to23
Waterloo and you -- you were with one24
particular -- I want to call it a clinic.  I25
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12
don't know what you would -- what you called it1
back then, but there were -- it was you and a2
couple of other colleagues that ran a -- a3
clinic.  What was the name of that clinic?4
I'm trying to remember.  Cardiac Surgery5 A.
Associates or something like that, yes.6
Right.  And then at some point Cardiac Surgery7 Q.
Associates merges with Cedar Valley Medical8
Specialists, Professional Corporation.9
Correct?10
Right.  It wasn't a merger, but -- but we -- we11 A.
joined them.  We -- we were asked to join them12
because the cardiologists at the hospital were13
part of Cedar Valley.  We were independent and14
Dr. John Wiggins, he was the senior partner.15
He had hired me.  He didn't want to join Cedar16
Valley, he wanted to be independent, but the17
cardiologists who we work very closely with18
were part of Cedar Valley, so the hospital19
administrator said it's -- it's easier and20
works better if -- when the surgeons and the21
cardiologists are in the same group.  So we22
were made to join them politically, and that's23
one reason John left.24
Okay.  And then my understanding is you were at25 Q.

13
Cedar Valley Medical Specialists from 19991
until 2012 -- through 2012.2
Yes.3 A.
Okay.  And as part of that, are you considered4 Q.
a partner?  A shareholder?  A member?  What5
was -- what was the relationship within that6
organization?7
Cedar Valley Medical Specialists is a group of8 A.
specialists.  I think we were 23 specialties9
and 55 surgeons, and if I remember correctly,10
when you first joined you're not a shareholder11
but after two years or something you become a12
shareholder.13
Okay.  I've seen documents from the secretary14 Q.
of state that show that in 2012, the last year15
that you were there, that there were 5816
different physicians that were part of17
Cedar Valley Medical Specialists.18
Yes.19 A.
Okay.  And that they included Dr. Bekavac,20 Q.
Dr. Halloran, Dr. Cammoun --21
Yes.22 A.
-- and you.23 Q.
Yes.24 A.
Correct?25 Q.

14
Um-hmm.  Yes.1 A.
And then my understanding is in 2013, you open2 Q.
up Northern Iowa Cardiovascular and Thoracic3
Surgery Clinic, P.C.4
Yes, I did.5 A.
Okay.  And actually, the records show that you6 Q.
formally created the company in November of7
2012.  Is that -- is that about right?8
Yes, yes.9 A.
In anticipation that you're going to start10 Q.
January 1 of 2013.  Correct?11
I don't remember the dates.  Yes.12 A.
And it's true, isn't it, that you were13 Q.
terminated from Cedar Valley Medical14
Specialists?  I think you described it as they15
kicked you out.  Is that correct?16
Correct, yes.17 A.
Okay.  Now, I want to talk about the kind of18 Q.
work that you've done since you started in --19
started in private practice in roughly 1996.20
We talked about you doing open procedures.21
Yes.22 A.
And endovascular work.23 Q.
Yes.24 A.
So I want to understand the difference.  So25 Q.

15
when you talk about open procedures, what are1
we talking about there?2
Open surgery where you -- you open up.  An3 A.
example would be an abdominal aortic aneurysm.4
For a long time before the endovascular5
methods, you -- it was done open method where6
you open up the abdominal wall, got in the7
abdomen and cut the aneurysm out and replaced8
it with a graft.  But with the endovascular9
procedure, we can less invasive so that you're10
able to do them without opening the abdomen.11
You could do percutaneous, for example.  You go12
through the groin without making incisions and13
you put a stent in the aneurysm.  That's14
endovascular.15
Okay.  And my understanding is that you were16 Q.
doing -- as part of the open procedures, you're17
doing open -- what you call open heart surgery.18
Yes.19 A.
And I know that some folks don't necessarily20 Q.
use that term "open heart" the way that maybe a21
layperson might understand it.  Can you tell us22
what that would have consisted of, what you --23
What will you be doing if you're doing open24
heart work?25
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Heart surgery.  Valve replacement, coronary1 A.
artery bypass grafting, aneurysm resection.2
You open the chest.3
Okay.  Now, if you --  If somebody were to come4 Q.
to you today and say, "I want to do open5
heart" -- "I want you to do an open heart6
surgery," would you be able to do that on them?7
I could but I don't do them anymore.  I stopped8 A.
doing open heart in 2009.9
I think you've testified in the past that you10 Q.
stopped doing open heart surgeries in 2008 and11
that you --12
Okay.13 A.
-- voluntarily surrendered your privileges to14 Q.
do open heart surgeries.15
Yes, I did.16 A.
Okay.  And that my understanding is that that17 Q.
was at the insistence of the hospital.  Is that18
true?19
No.20 A.
That's not true?21 Q.
No.22 A.
All right.  So it was your desire all along to23 Q.
just stop doing open heart surgeries in 2008,24
2009?25

17
MS. RINDEN:  Well, hold on.  I'm going to1

object to the form.  Argumentative.2
You can answer, Doctor, if you can.3

Yes.  It's --  I -- I don't know if it's4 A.
something to be discussed here, but it was5
political, and -- and it even resulted in a6
lawsuit and was settled out of court, but it7
wasn't -- it wasn't that straightforward.  It8
was political, yes.9
I understand the concept of political, but10 Q.
the -- but the true answer to my question when11
I said that the hospital insisted that you stop12
doing them, that -- that is technically true.13
Correct?14
Not correct.  It's not.15 A.
So the hospital didn't ask you to stop doing16 Q.
open heart surgeries?17
They did not -- they did not ask -- I did not18 A.
stop doing open heart surgery because they19
asked you to.20
They told you to.21 Q.
It was negotiated.22 A.

MS. RINDEN:  Hold on a minute.  You guys23
are talking at the same time, and I'm going to24
object to form.  Argumentative.  Let him -- let25

18
him -- you finish your answer and then let him1
finish, Marty.2
If you insist that I go into it, it was a3 A.
political thing, and -- and I wasn't -- I4
wasn't in agreement with -- with -- with things5
and I sued the hospital, and that resulted in a6
lot other things.  All I can tell you is that I7
am still in good standing in the hospital.  I8
do all my surgeries there.  I -- I mean I'm9
still on the -- on the hospital staff in good10
standing.11
Okay.  So just to summarize, there was some12 Q.
sort of disagreement between you and the13
hospital that related to doing open heart14
surgeries.  Your viewpoint is that there was a15
political decision.  Correct?16
Correct.17 A.
It ended up in you filing a lawsuit with some18 Q.
kind of a settlement that's confidential.19
Correct?20
Correct.21 A.
Okay.  All right.  The fact is that you've not22 Q.
done open heart surgeries, then, since roughly23
2008, 2009.  Is that true?24
2009, yes.25 A.

19
Okay.  Now, my understanding from looking at1 Q.
things you've said in the past that you were2
doing in this timeframe of roughly 1999 to3
2008 -- I'm going to use that timeframe -- you4
were doing 50 to 60 percent of all surgeries5
were open heart surgeries, 30 to 40 percent6
were vascular surgeries, and 10 to 20 percent7
was thoracic.  Is that true?8
Noncardiac thoracic.9 A.
Okay.  So I want to understand what we're10 Q.
talking about.  So up until you have this --11
this disagreement with the hospital --12
Yes.13 A.
-- 2008, 2009, you're doing about 50 to 6014 Q.
percent of your work is doing open heart15
surgeries.16
I would say so, yes.17 A.
Okay.  And about 30 to 40 percent is vascular,18 Q.
so what is vascular then?19
Peripheral vascular, working on arteries and20 A.
veins.21
So in this case with Mr. McGrew where you end22 Q.
up doing a carotid endarterectomy, what is23
that?  Is that a vascular procedure?24
Vascular.25 A.
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Okay.  And then 10 to 20 percent would be1 Q.
noncardiac thoracic.2
Yes.3 A.
Meaning what?4 Q.
Lungs, esophagus, you know, anything in the5 A.
chest other than heart.6
Okay.  In this timeframe before you stopped7 Q.
doing the open heart surgeries, when you did8
vascular work, what percentage of your vascular9
work was open and what percentage was10
endovascular?11
I can't -- I can't guess.  I can't -- I can't12 A.
guess.  I think most of it was open.  But I13
can't give you percentage.14
In reading what you've testified in the past15 Q.
about, I got the impression that you were far16
more comfortable doing open procedures than you17
were doing endovascular.  Is that a fair18
statement?19
In the -- in the beginning, yes, because the20 A.
open was what I was trained doing.21
Right.22 Q.
But I'd say learned more endovascular and got23 A.
better in it, and I'm just as comfortable doing24
endovascular now.25

21
Okay.  All right.  And so that we get an idea1 Q.
of how many surgeries you would do, all types,2
in this timeframe before your disagreement with3
Allen Hospital, how many surgeries do you think4
you would do in a year's time?5

MS. RINDEN:  I'm going to object to the6
form.  You can go ahead and answer, Doctor.7
Yes.  I would say until -- again, I can't put8 A.
numbers in it, but all I can tell you that I9
was the only cardiovascular surgeon in the10
Cedar Valley up until 2008 or so, so I did all11
the open heart surgeries.  I did most of the12
vascular surgeries and most of the thoracic13
surgeries.14
Are you able to give me a reasonable estimate15 Q.
of the number of surgeries you would do in a16
year back then?17
At one point I was doing over 1,000.18 A.
Okay.  All right.  So if you're losing 50 to 6019 Q.
percent of your open heart work, does that mean20
500 to 600 of those surgeries were lost,21
meaning you're no longer doing them, or is it22
not that simple?23
It's not that simple.24 A.
Okay.25 Q.

22
Because we were doing them about 300 -- 300 --1 A.
two-eighty to 300 hearts, open hearts a year.2
They just take longer.3 Q.
Yes.4 A.
And so for that reason, 50 percent, 60 percent5 Q.
of your time may be a more appropriate way6
rather than saying 50, 60 percent of your7
surgeries.8
Well, yeah.  Yes, I agree with that.9 A.
Okay.  All right.  Now, you have testified in10 Q.
the past that despite your being fired from11
Cedar Valley Medical Specialists in 2012 that12
you maintained, quote, "a good working13
relationship with those folks."14
Yes.15 A.

Okay.  But -- and I don't want to be unfair to8 Q.
you, Doctor.9
Okay.10 A.
I used the word "fired" as the equivalent of11 Q.
"terminated."  You used the word --  This is12
what you said.  You said, "They terminated me.13
They kicked me out."14
That's what I'm saying.  I'm just clarifying15 A.
that.16
And I appreciate that.  I appreciate that.  Did17 Q.
you have any -- for example, did you get along18
with Dr. Bekavac?19
Yes.  I still do, yes.20 A.
Okay.  Do you get along with Dr. Halloran?21 Q.
Yes.  I still do.22 A.
Okay.  Is there anyone at Cedar Valley with23 Q.
whom you did not have a good working24
relationship when you left in 2012?25
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Working relationship, no.  I get along with1 A.
everybody.2
Okay.  All right.  As you sit here, I know3 Q.
you're aware that Dr. Bekavac has written --4
he's got a medical record that talks about his5
viewpoint of what happened with Mr. McGrew.  I6
assume you've had a chance to look at that?7
Yes, I have.8 A.
Okay.  And I assume you've seen Dr. Halloran's9 Q.
interpretation of the CT angiogram done on10
Mr. McGrew on August 18th of 2014?11
Yes, I have.12 A.
I assume you disagree with both of them.13 Q.
Yes, I do.14 A.
Okay.  Do you have an explanation for why15 Q.
they've taken the position that they've taken?16
No, I can't -- I can't second-guess them.  I17 A.
don't -- you know.18

26
1
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; and 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.,  
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
 
DEFENDANTS’ OBJECTIONS TO 
PLAINTIFFS’ DEPOSITION 
DESIGNATIONS  
 
 

 
 Defendants Dr. Eromosele Otoadese and Northern Iowa Cardiovascular and Thoracic 

Surgery Clinic, P.C. provide the following objections to Plaintiffs’ depositions designations:  

 Part 1:  All designated testimony from pages 11:21—24:18.  

In the Deposition at  page 11:21 and through 24:18, the subjects generally include 

background information pre-dating this case, including the circumstances under which Dr. 

Otoadese left a prior professional clinic (Cedar Valley Specialists) which involved a lawsuit, 

settlement, and issues of liability insurance; circumstances under which Dr. Otoadese stopped 

doing open heart surgery (a type of surgery that is not at issue in this case) at Allen Hospital 

which involved a lawsuit, settlement, and privileging issues; Plaintiffs’ speculative theory that 

Dr. Otoadese was financially motivated to recommend surgery to Mr. McGrew; a suggestion that 

Dr. Otoadese is not “comfortable” doing endovascular surgery;  Dr. Otoadese’s working 

relationship with Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran -- intended to bolster the credibility  of those 

physicians in the eyes of the jury; and seeking speculative testimony as to why Dr. Bekavac and 

Dr. Halloran would disagree with Dr. Otoadese.   
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These subjects and this deposition testimony should be excluded. They are completely 

irrelevant and non-probative to the issues the jury will decide, are unsupported by Plaintiffs’ 

expert as in anyway connected to the alleged medical negligence, and would be incurably 

prejudicial to Dr. Otoadese. They are collateral issues that would waste the Court and jury’s time 

and create suspicions, doubts, and potential hostilities towards Dr. Otoadese. Further, the only 

way Defendants could adequately respond to the evidence would only compound the prejudice. 

Even if minimally probative (which Defendants do not concede), the likelihood of unfair 

prejudice far exceeds the probative value of these subjects.  

This evidence should be excluded under Rules 5.402, 5.403, 5.408, 5.411, Defendants’ 

Motion in Limine ¶4 (b) (c) (e) (g); ¶5 (lawsuits), ¶6 (privileging), ¶9 (insurance), ¶12 

(settlement); Plaintiff’s First Motion in Limine ¶4 (other litigation); Plaintiffs’ Second Motion in 

Limine ¶8  (opinions about credibility of others). 

 In addition there is inadmissible hearsay in these pages. See Rule 5.802. Hearsay in these 

sections includes:  the conduct of Cedar Valley Specialists of terminating, firing, or “kicking Dr. 

Otoadese out” (14:13-17, 23:11-16) and Allen Hospital’s alleged “insistence” that Dr. Otoadese 

give up his privileges for open heart surgery or that it “told” him to (16:17-19, 17:11-21). 

 Part 2:  

Line 41:7-17:  Rule 5. 802 (hearsay) 

  Line 42:23-43:9 (through “I said no.”): Hearsay (5.802); speculation 

  Line 44:9-45:10: Hearsay and related to hearsay 

 Part  3: All testimony designated in lines 58:9 through 64:16.   

Deposition 58:9-60:6 is related to the recommendation of an “open” surgery or stenting. 

This is not relevant to any issue the jury will decide. There are no expert criticisms of Dr. 
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Otoadese recommending an open procedure. This is only offered to either suggest a financial 

motive or that Dr. Otoadese is somehow not as qualified as he should be. See Rule 5. 402, 5.403; 

Defendants’ motion in limine ¶4(e). 

Deposition 63:4-64:16 relates to dictation and documentation practices. No expert opines 

on these issues as in anyway remotely related to anything. They are not. Rules 5.402, 5.403.  

 Part 4:  All testimony designated 66:17 through 73:3.   

This testimony concerns Dr. Otoadese not ordering a second ultrasound, implying it was 

because of lack of reimbursement for Dr. Otoadese’s own lab. 66:17-68:23. Plaintiffs’ expert 

does not opine there should have been a repeat ultrasound. Dr. Otoadese testified he did not need 

one given he ordered a CT angiogram. This subject has no relevance and is only designated to 

suggest financial concerns controlled Dr. Otoadese’s decisions. It is wishful thinking, speculation 

and fabrication.  See Rule 5.402, 5.403, Defendants’ motion in limine ¶4(e) 

 At Deposition 70:21-72:3, Plaintiffs’ counsel asked questions about ultrasound 

interpretation to which Dr. Otoadese put no weight and did not know how its values were 

created. Plaintiffs’ counsel proceeds to testify about “a society for ultrasound techs that put 

together sort of values . . .”. Whatever Plaintiffs seek to accomplish, it is not relevant. Plaintiffs’ 

expert Dr. Adams does not offer any criticism of Dr. Otoadese based upon the ultrasound.   See 

Rules 5.402, 5. 403. It is also in the form of a hypothetical with no basis in fact and is 

inadmissible on this basis as well.  See Hubby v. State, 331 N.W.2d 690, 696 (Iowa 1983) (“The 

facts assumed in a hypothetical question must be supported by the evidence in the record.”).1  

                                                 
1 “It is well established in this jurisdiction, as well as elsewhere, that where the record is lacking in any evidence 
proving or tending to prove the assumed facts, the hypothetical question is improper.” State v. Tharp, 138 N.W.2d 
78, 83 (Iowa 1965); id.  at 84 (finding improper hypothetical that was not supported by the evidence was prejudicial, 
could not be cured by an instruction, and required reversal; “where there was no evidence to support the question, 
we think the properly objected-to opinion created such prejudicial testimony that it could not be erased by such an 
instruction to disregard. The poison could not be thus neutralized.”).   
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 Part 5:  Lines 99:22-100:3.  

In this testimony, Dr. Otoadese was asked if he told Dr. McGrew about a 20% risk of not 

doing surgery. But this is not Plaintiffs’ informed consent claim. Instead, Plaintiffs’ informed 

consent claim--assuming without conceding it is admissible--is that Dr. Otoadese did not give 

information as an alternative medication therapy assuming surgery was necessary. See Rules 5. 

402, 5.403.  

II. General Objections. 
 

a. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to introduce Dr. Otoadese’s deposition and 
also call him as a witness in their case.  

 
Plaintiffs list Dr. Otoadese as a trial witness but it is unclear if they are calling him live or 

by deposition. Defendants object if Plaintiffs intend to call Dr. Otoadese in their case in chief in 

addition to showing/reading portions of his deposition. Plaintiffs should only be allowed one or 

the other: call Dr. Otoadese as a witness or show/read those portions of his depositions allowed 

by the Court—not both. 

For witnesses who are available in court to testify and who will testify in court, showing 

or reading deposition testimony serves to emphasize that testimony. It is likely to also include 

repetitive testimony—further emphasizing it. A live witness may not testify repeatedly. The 

opportunity for repetition and emphasis does not exist for live witnesses or witnesses for whom 

there is no deposition. Deposition testimony should be treated no differently than a live trial 

witness—the jury should hear from the witness once in the party’s case.  

 As to the portion of the deposition Plaintiffs intend to show by video, it is even more 

important that it be shown once and not repeated by live testimony. “Videotaped testimony may 

seem more believable or important to the lay jury because it can both see and hear the witness.  . 
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. . Repeatedly showing the same few deposition segments seems to exalt the relevance of those 

videotaped shreds of evidence over live testimony.” Hynix Semiconductor Inc. v. Rambus Inc., 

2008 WL 190990 * 1 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 21, 2008); see also Bannister v. Town of Noble, 812 F.2d 

1265, 1269  (10th Cir. 1987) (acknowledging “dominating nature of film evidence” as a 

“legitimate concern;” discussing concern that jury will give greater weight to film).  

b. Plaintiffs should not be allowed to show or read deposition excerpts in 
segments “throughout trial” but the allowed portions of the deposition 
should be shown and read in one setting. 

 
Plaintiffs designate portions of Dr. Otoadese’s deposition in five separate sections and 

suggest the sections will be shown and read “into the record . . . throughout the trial.”  

Defendants object to showing and reading the deposition in isolated segments. All portions of 

Dr. Otoadese’s deposition that is allowed over defense objections should be shown/read in one 

setting.  

A party may not call a live witness to testify repeatedly—picking and choosing subjects 

to cover in isolated segments “throughout trial.” Nor should Plaintiffs be allowed to do this via a 

deposition. Allowing Plaintiffs to use deposition testimony in selected excerpts “throughout the 

trial” will serve to give that testimony undue emphasis and increase the likelihood it will be 

taken out of context from the witnesses’ entire testimony.  Such segments will be separated in 

time from the remainder of the witness’ testimony and any cross examination. Rule 5.106 

provides that when a party introduces part of a statement, the adverse party may require 

introduction “at that time” of any other part “that in fairness ought to be considered at the same 

time.”  Plaintiffs should be required to show or read whatever portions of Dr. Otoadese’s 

deposition is allowed in one setting to avoid undue emphasis and unfair prejudice. 

 c. Using deposition excerpts during voir dire or during opening statements. 
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Defendants object to any use of deposition excerpts during voir dire or opening 

statements. Such use would be unfairly prejudicial to Defendants, emphasizing the testimony by 

means of mere repetition. A live witness may not testify repeatedly. Depositions should be 

treated no differently. See Wyatt Technology Corp. v. Malvern Instruments, Inc., 2010 WL 

11505684 *22 (C.D. Cal., 2010) (precluding use of videotaped depositions in opening statements 

as the “lay jury would put undue weight on that testimony” given it may be shown multiple times 

“in the exact same form.”); Id  (“[O]pening arguments is not the time to play excerpts of video-

taped depositions.”);  see also In re C.R. Bard, Inc., Pelvic Repair Sys. Prod. Liab. Litig.,  2013 

WL 3282926 *8 (S.D.W. Va. 2013) (subsequent history on other matters omitted) (precluding 

the parties from using video deposition clips during opening statements).  

 

   /s/ Jennifer E. Rinden     
      JENNIFER E. RINDEN  AT0006606 
        for 
      SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL, P.C. 
      500 U.S. Bank Bldg., P.O. Box 2107 
      Cedar Rapids, IA 52406 
      PHONE: (319) 365-9461 
      FAX:  (319) 365-8443 
      e-mail:  jer@shuttleworthlaw.com 

ATTORNEYS FOR EROMOSELE OTOADESE, 
M.D.; NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C. 

 
cc: Martin A. Diaz, Esq. 

1570 Shady Ct NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 

 
Mark L. Chipokas, Esq. 
Mark L. Chipokas, P.C. 
866 First Avenue N.E. 
P.O. Box 1261 
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-1261 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of 
this document w as s erved upon c ounsel of 
record for  each party to the ac tion i n 
compliance w ith the appl icable IRCP February 
15, 2019, by: 
 
[x] Electronically via EDMS for registrants 
[ ] U.S. Mail    
[ ] Fax    
[ ] Overnight Courier    
[ ] Hand Delivery    
[x ] E-mail  Judge Stigler (JER)  
 
By:  /s/ Haley Fauconniere 
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Honorable George Stigler 
Black Hawk County Courthouse 
316 East 5th Street 
P.O. Box 9500 
Waterloo, IA 50704-9500 
E-mail:  George.stigler@iowacourts.gov  
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; 
and NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND 
THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C. 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ RESISTANCE 
TO OBJECTIONS TO 
DEPOSITION DESIGNATIONS 

 
COME NOW the Plaintiffs and in resistance to the Objections filed by 

Defendants to Plaintiffs’ Deposition Designations state: 

Part 1: This excerpt relates to Dr. Otoadese’s qualifications as a physician 

and surgeon.1 Defendants have already filed a motion in limine relating to this 

issue and plaintiffs have filed a resistance to that motion. For the court’s 

convenience, plaintiffs will restate that argument and then provide additional 

comments to the objections filed: 

Dr. Otoadese has testified that in 2008-2009 he “voluntarily” surrendered his 

hospital privileges to perform heart surgery, which at the time constituted 50-60% 

of his overall time performing surgeries. Dr. Otoadese then filed suit against Allen 

                                                 
1 It is noteworthy that Defendants have marked Dr. Otoadese’s CV as proposed Exhibit K.  
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Memorial Hospital relating to these surrendered privileges and reached a 

confidential settlement unknown to these Plaintiffs. (See Otoadese v. Allen 

Memorial Hospital, Black Hawk County, LACV114625). But, notwithstanding 

that settlement, Dr. Otoadese has not performed “open heart” surgeries since 2009. 

He has admitted that at the time he was performing “open heart” surgeries, they 

constituted 50-60% of his surgery time and approximately 30% of his overall 

surgeries. 

In 2012, Dr. Otoadese was “kicked out” (terminated)2 from Cedar Valley 

Medical Specialists and on January 1, 2013 he opened Northern Iowa 

Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery Clinic, P.C.  In the summer of 2014, Dr. 

Otoadese’s surgeries were limited to vascular and nonvascular thoracic areas of the 

body and he was still not performing open-heart procedures---consistent with the 

fact that he no longer had privileges to perform open heart surgeries.  

One of Dr. Otoadese’s experts is Dr. James Levett, a cardio thoracic surgeon 

from Cedar Rapids. Dr. Levett was retained as an expert witness by Allen Hospital 

in the lawsuit filed by Dr. Otoadese. Dr. Levett was hired to testify to the 

                                                 
2 These are Dr. Otoadese’s words. He explains in his deposition that he was terminated because 
CVMS was not able to get insurance to cover his practice. Plaintiffs do not know if that is an 
accurate reflection of why, but they do not intend to offer that evidence unless the defendant 
wishes to. 
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appropriateness of the decision to withhold surgical privileges from Dr. Otoadese 

to perform open-heart procedures. 

The above facts are undisputed.  

It is also undisputed that on August 18, 2014, Mr. McGrew went to see Dr. 

Otoadese who recommended surgery and did not discuss with Mr. McGrew 

alternative treatment for his condition that did not require surgery. 

A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if 
the expert’s scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help 
the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. 

 
Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.702 
 

Iowa law existing at the time this case was filed, Iowa Code §147.139, 

provided as follows: 

If the standard of care given by a physician….is at issue, the court shall only 
allow a person to qualify as an expert witness and to testify on the issue of 
the appropriate standard of care if the person’s medical…qualifications 
relate directly to the medical problem or problems at issue and the type of 
treatment administered in the case. 

 Dr. Otoadese will testify in his own defense. Dr. Otoadese is an expert 

witness and he will testify to the fact that he did not violate the standard of care. In 

order to assess Dr. Otoadese’s credibility as an expert, the court must provide the 

plaintiff the opportunity to question Dr. Otoadese’s qualifications including any 

limitations on his hospital privileges, and the successes and failures that he has had 

as a physician and surgeon. This includes any motivation that he may have had to 
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perform surgery on Mr. McGrew. The evidence will include the fact that his 

surgical practice had taken a substantial downturn in 2009 when he was not 

allowed to perform open-heart procedures. The evidence will also include the fact 

that his surgical practice was significantly affected by his termination (“kicked 

out”, as he termed it) from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists. In order to properly 

assess Dr. Otoadese’s skill as a physician and his motive for recommending 

surgery, the jury needs to be given all relevant information. Failure to provide the 

jury with that information would mislead the jury.  

If Dr. Otoadese were called as a retained expert, plaintiffs would be 

permitted to inquire about the hospital privileges maintained by him and whether 

he had ever been terminated from a clinical group. That information would be 

relevant to assess his qualifications to render standard of care opinions. 

In addition to the undisputed facts regarding his hospital privileges at Allen 

Memorial Hospital, and his termination from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists, 

there is the additional evidence that one of Dr. Otoadese’s expert witnesses has 

previously testified as an expert witness against Dr. Otoadese in the case involving 

his privileges to perform open-heart procedures at Allen Memorial Hospital. 

This inquiry into the qualifications of any expert, including a defendant who 

was an expert, has been recognized by the Iowa Supreme Court: 

We are committed to a liberal rule on admissibility of expert testimony, 
Wick v. Henderson, 485 N.W.2d 645, 648 (Iowa 1992), and the admission of 
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such testimony rests within the sound discretion of the district court. Tappe 
v. Iowa Methodist Medical Ctr., 477 N.W.2d 396, 402 (Iowa 1991). Iowa 
Rule of Evidence 702 has "codified Iowa's existing liberal rule on the 
admission of opinion testimony." Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. 
Co., 514 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 1994). The United States Supreme Court 
reaffirmed this approach in Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
509 U.S. 579, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 2799, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469, 
485 (1993). Rule 702 provides: 
 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the 
trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, 
a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or 
otherwise. 
 

Further, in its comments to rule 702, the advisory committee stated: 

If [pursuant to Iowa Rule of Evidence 104(a)] the Court is satisfied 
that the threshold requirements have been met, the witness should be 
allowed to testify. All further inquiry regarding the extent of his 
[or her] qualifications go to the weight that the fact finder can 
give such testimony under Rule 104(e). 
 

Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 888 (Iowa 1996) (Italics in original; bold added) 
 

In Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 514 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 

1994), the plaintiff objected to testimony from defendant’s retained expert because 

he was not board certified in neuropsychology and because he was a psychologist 

and not a medical doctor testifying about medical causation. In rejecting this 

objection, the court took pains to point out that the ultimate assessment of 

qualifications was left to the trial process including cross-examination and jury 

assessment of the witness. The court stated: 
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Dr. Moore has board certification as a clinical psychologist, holds a Ph.D. in 
clinical psychology, and has substantial experience in neuropsychology. 
Although Dr. Moore lacked board certification in neuropsychology, we 
believe this fact went to the weight of his testimony, not its admissibility.  

*** 
Although few of these restrictions on experts strike us as fundamentally 
unsound, we refuse to impose barriers to expert testimony other than the 
basic requirements of Iowa rule of evidence 702 and those described by the 
Supreme Court in Daubert. The criteria for qualifications under rule 702--
knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education--are too broad to allow 
distinctions based on whether or not a proposed expert belongs to a 
particular profession or has a particular degree.  

*** 
We understand the concern that expert testimony regarding the causes of 
personal injury can fall "wholly in the realm of conjecture, speculation, and 
surmise." Nevertheless, we agree with the Daubert Court that the trial court 
in its discretion and the jury in its deliberation provide the most effective 
determination of the admissibility and weight of expert psychological 
testimony.  

*** 
Similarly, we believe with the aid of vigorous cross examination, the jury is 
fully capable of detecting the most plausible explanation of events. ….  

*** 
Moreover, plaintiffs had ample opportunity to discredit Dr. Moore. 
Plaintiffs' counsel subjected Dr. Moore to thorough cross examination 
regarding his qualifications and the basis of his testimony, placing special 
emphasis on his lack of medical qualifications. … 
 

Id. at 886-889 (Italics added)  

 Finally, in Andersen v. Khanna, 913 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2018), the Court 

held that the personal characteristics of a physician may establish a duty of 

disclosure as part of obtaining informed consent for treatment. In discussing the 

duty to disclose surgical experience, the Court noted the following: 

Indeed, at trial several experts testified regarding the number of Bentall 
procedures they had performed and their training to perform the procedure in 
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order to establish their competency to testify as expert witnesses. It stands to 
reason that if such information is relevant to establishing a witness's 
expertise, such information could be material to a reasonable patient's 
decision to or not to undergo a particular treatment. 

 
Id. at 540 (emphasis added).  
 
The Court cited with approval a Louisiana Court of Appeals decision that “held the 

physician had a duty to disclose his chronic alcohol abuse.” Andersen at 542 

(citing to Hidding v. Williams, 578 So. 2d 1192, 1196 (La. Ct. App. 1991)). The 

Court makes clear that the qualifications of a physician may be relevant to consent, 

and in the process highlights that a physician’s history is important in assessing 

their credibility.  

 Defendants contend that permitting evidence of the qualifications of the 

defendant physician would be more prejudicial than probative. However, it would 

be more prejudicial not to tell the jury about the qualifications and working history 

of this physician. Under what circumstances is the qualifications of an expert 

physician not probative? Under what circumstances is the working history of an 

expert physician not probative? They clearly are. If prejudice exists, it does so 

because defendant’s qualifications create such prejudice. It is not prejudice created 

by the plaintiffs. If any such prejudice exists, it cannot outweigh the probative 

value of a jury understanding a physician’s qualifications. 
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Additional comments: 

1. In their Objections, Defendants make the following statement: “the 

circumstances under which Dr. Otoadese left a prior professional clinic (Cedar 

Valley Specialists) which involved a lawsuit, settlement, and issues of liability 

insurance.” (Objections, p.1) 

Plaintiffs are not aware of any lawsuit or settlement arising out of the 

termination of Dr. Otoadese from the practice at Cedar Valley Medical Specialists.   

While Dr. Otoadese claimed that the reason he was “kicked out” was because he 

was uninsurable, plaintiffs do not intend to show that part of his answer. 

2.  Defendants contend that the use of the word “termination” or “kicked 

out” are hearsay. Both terms have been used by Dr. Otoadese in a prior deposition 

and are therefore his words and not the words of a third party. He endorsed those 

terms in this deposition. His own words are not hearsay but rather are admissions. 

The same applies to any description of his disagreement with Allen Hospital. He 

responded to questions regarding how one would interpret the decision to have him 

stop performing cardiac surgery. 

3. While plaintiffs do not intend to go into other lawsuits filed against Dr. 

Otoadese including any pending lawsuits, they do seek to discuss the lawsuit that 

Dr. Otoadese filed because it was filed in response to losing his privileges. It also 

establishes that notwithstanding any confidential settlement he has not performed 
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open heart surgeries which constitute 50 to 60% of the work time that he 

performed at that time. It is part and parcel of his qualifications and his practice. 

The jury is entitled to know all aspects of his qualifications, not just those that the 

defendant wishes to disclose. To only disclose what the defendant wishes to 

disclose would mislead this jury. 

Part 2:  

Pages 41-43: In these sections, Dr. Otoadese is describing a series of events 

related to post-stroke care of Mr. McGrew. He is also describing a conversation he 

had with Dr. Hassani about whether Mr. McGrew should be taken back to surgery. 

This is Dr. Otoadese describing the event and uses the conversations that he had 

with Dr. Hassani to explain the events. This is not hearsay. It is not being offered 

for the truth of the matter asserted. Rather, it is offered to describe the progression 

of events that took place. There is also no speculation as Dr. Otoadese has 

firsthand knowledge of the events. 

Pages 44-45: The same analysis applies to this conversation. Again, it is not 

offered for the truth of the matter asserted but rather offered to explain the 

progression of events that took place and Dr. Otoadese’s decision-making and 

conduct. 

Part 3: Plaintiffs anticipate that Dr. Otoadese will testify that he obtained 

informed consent to the procedure. He has indicated that as part of that consent he 
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disclosed to Mr. McGrew and his daughter all the treatment options. These 

questions relate to that subject matter and are clearly related to the case. Further, 

one of the factual disputes is what information was provided by Mr. McGrew and 

documented in the medical chart. How Dr. Otoadese dictates and what parts are 

information that he obtained and what parts are information that some other person 

in his office obtain and documented is relevant to the jury’s determination of what 

occurred on August 18, 2014. These questions elicit how the documentation was 

prepared. 

Part 4: There will be conflicting testimony as to the significance of the 

carotid ultrasound done on August 6, 2014. One of defendants’ experts contends 

that the carotid ultrasound was abnormal, while others contend that it was normal. 

For example, Dr. Mauer will testify that he ordered the carotid ultrasound and he 

relied upon it in determining what recommendations to make to Mr. McGrew. On 

the other hand, Dr. Otoadese testified that he put literally no weight on the 

ultrasound. He claims that the ultrasound cannot be relied upon because it was 

performed at an outside facility. Plaintiffs inquired whether he could have 

performed his own ultrasound at his own facility, and he responded as set forth in 

this section. This information is relevant and exclusion of it would be error. 

Part 5: As noted in response to Defendants’ motion in limine, plaintiffs 

claim that Dr. Otoadese did not obtain adequate informed consent. Defendants 

E-FILED  2019 FEB 17 8:52 AM BLACKHAWK - CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT

 
App. 198



11 
 

have an idea of what they think is informed consent; plaintiffs have their own 

viewpoint. This includes not only what he told them but also what he didn’t tell 

them. Iowa case law focuses on what a patient would want to know. While expert 

testimony is needed in order to understand the treatment options and risks and 

benefits of a procedure, it is not the only evidence available to establish such a 

claim. There will be significant disagreement between the parties as to whether 

surgery was necessary and to the extent that surgery would be appropriate whether 

the patient was properly advised about the risks of the surgery. One of the issues 

that a jury can consider is whether the risk of not doing surgery is as important as 

knowing the risk of doing surgery. In order to assess that claim, the jury needs to 

have this information. This is simply part of the information that he needs to know. 

II. General Objections: 

a.  IRCP 1.704 permits a party to use a deposition of a party “for any 
purpose”. 
 
 Defendants seek to prevent plaintiffs from reading or showing portions of 

the deposition of Dr. Otoadese while also calling him as a live witness. At this 

time, plaintiffs only intend to offer his deposition testimony, but do not want to be 

limited in also calling him as a witness. Defendants cite to no rule or other 

authority that would prohibit them from doing so. 
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 IRCP 1.704 states: 

Any part of a deposition, so far as admissible under the rules of evidence, 
may be used upon the trial…. against any party who appeared when it was 
taken… to do any of the following:  
(2) For any purpose if, when it was taken, deponent was a party adverse to 
the offeror… 

 IRCP 1.705(1) further provides “[I]f a party offers only part of a deposition,  

any other party may require an offer of all of the deposition relevant to the portion 

offered, the deposition….”  

 The rules recognize that a party may choose to show or read to the jury any 

part of a deposition of another party so long as the other party is given an 

opportunity to designate other parts relevant to the portion that is being offered. 

Such an offer was made in this case and defendants have so designated. The rules 

anticipate that a party may do so without having to read the entire deposition and 

may do so in a piecemeal fashion. In other words, that there may be more than one 

excerpt to be shown or read.  

There is no rule that prohibits reading parts of an opposing party’s previous 

testimony and also calling the individual as an adverse witness. Given the fact that 

a party opponent’s deposition is essentially an admission, it is reasonable that one 

could read parts of the deposition to establish admissions and then call the 

individual as an adverse witness. In fact, you can do it in a serial fashion. 
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b. IRCP 1.704 and 1.705 permit a party to show or read excerpts from a party 
opponent’s deposition throughout the trial.  
 

As noted above, the rules anticipate that one would read excerpts from a 

party opponent’s deposition throughout the trial. IRCP 1.705 allows a party to 

designate parts of a deposition so long as other parts relevant to the part to be read 

are also included. Defendants do not cite to any authority for the position that it is 

taking. There is nothing that prohibits a party from reading in different segments 

throughout the trial. IRCP 1.704 permits any part of a party opponent’s deposition 

to be read “for any purpose.” In this case, plaintiffs can read the deposition of Dr. 

Otoadese at different times of the trial because it will be “for any purpose” that it 

believes will aid in their presentation of their case.  

c. Plaintiffs do not intend to show or read deposition excerpts during voir dire 
or opening statements. 
 

However, plaintiffs are not precluded from otherwise using any admissions 

during opening statements. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
_/s/ Martin A. Diaz________ 
MARTIN A. DIAZ 000009676 
ICIS  AT0002000 
1570 Shady Ct. NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350 telephone 
319-339-4426 facsimile 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 

copy: Per EDMS 
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY

WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE
MCGREW,

)
)
)

Plaintiffs, ) NO. LACV130355

)
)vs.

DEFENDANTS' RESISTANCE TO
PLAINTIFFS' SUPPLEMENTAL
MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

)
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; and
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR

)
)

AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, )
WITH AUTHORITIESP.C., )

)
Defendants )

Defendants Dr. Eromosele Otoadese and Northern Iowa Cardiovascular and Thoracic

Surgery Clinic, P.C. (collectively "Dr. Otoadese") resist Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion for

New Trial ("Supplemental Motion") and Plaintiffs' Supplement to their Supplemental Motion

and state:

Plaintiffs present the issue in their Supplemental Motion as one subject to the1.

Court's discretion. See Supplemental Motion at 4.

It is well within the Court's discretion to find there was no "misconduct" or2.

"irregularity" and that Plaintiffs were not prejudiced. See Rule 1.1004. Plaintiffs are not

entitled to a new trial.

Dr. Otoadese does not agree or concede that Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion for3.

New Trial is timely. The judgment (with the verdict) was filed March 7, 2019 and Plaintiffs

filed their Supplemental Motion on April 22, 2019 without a motion for leave to do so or a

Defendants refer herein to documents attached to Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion, including:
® Defendant's Answers to Plaintiffs Interrogatory No. 7, served Dec. 7, 2016 ("Interrogatory Answer")

• Iowa Board of Medicine Press Release and Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement (Combined),
approved by the Board April 12, 2019 ("Board's Order")

1
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motion for extension of time. See Rule 1.1007 (motion for new trial must be filed within 15

days after filing the verdict unless an extension of no more than 30 days is granted). Without

waiving this argument, Dr. Otoadese addresses the merits of Plaintiffs' Supplemental

Motion below.

WHEREFORE for the reasons set forth above and below, Dr. Otoadese requests that

Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion for New Trial be denied.

ARGUMENT

The Iowa Board of Medicine information upon which Plaintiffs rely does not
include or represent an admission of incompetence and only became available after

trial.

I.

There are two threshold issues which defeat Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion: 1) the

Iowa Board of Medicine ("Board") information does not represent an admission by Dr.

Otoadese that he was negligent or incompetent, and 2) the information upon which Plaintiffs

rely became available after trial was concluded in this matter.

There was no admission or finding of incompetence or negligence.A.

Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion is based at least in part upon the assumption that Dr.

Otoadese has admitted he was negligent or incompetent. See Supplemental Motion at 3 ("His

[settlement] agreement constitutes an admission of professional incompetence."); Plaintiffs'

Supplement to Supplemental Motion, filed April 29, 2019, at 1 (arguing Dr. Otoadese may have

testified untruthfully given he "admitted to the Iowa Board of Medicine that he was

professionally incompetent in treating [Mr. McGrew]"). Plaintiffs are mistaken.

The Board's Order is a Combined Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement. It

expressly states that it "constitutes the resolution of a contested case proceeding." Board's

2
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Order at 5 TJ13. There was no finding by the Board of professional incompetence or admission

by Dr. Otoadese.

An examining board's statement of charges is just that—charges. Charges prove

nothing. In McClure v. Walgreen Co., 613 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2000), the Iowa Supreme Court

held that a statement of charges and settlement documents (in which a pharmacy agreed to be on

probation) were inadmissible in a civil case involving the pharmacy. Id. at 235-37. The Court

held:

The statement of charges was irrelevant because it was merely assertions of
wrongdoing. None of the matters in the statement of charges was either
proved or disproved.

Because the statement of charges and the stipulation and consent order were
irrelevant and therefore inadmissible, we do not reach the balancing
questions under rule 403.

Id. at 236-37 (but noting that "tone of the charges conveys an atmosphere of criminality"). In

McClure, the statement of charges concerned the very same incident that was the subject of the

litigation. Id. at 234. The Court still found the charges irrelevant. See also id. at 236 (finding

board evidence "proved nothing") (emphasis added); In re Ziegler, 2006 WL 623685 *3 (Iowa

Ct. App. 2006) ("a theft charge is not tantamount to a theft conviction. It is an accusation, not an

act. While evidence of the latter is admissible to attack a party's credibility, evidence of the

former is not.")

Not only is a statement of charges irrelevant, as reflecting "mere[] assertions of

wrongdoing," the settlement agreement also proves nothing and is not an admission. The

McClure Court found that nothing in the settlement with the licensing board "amounted to an

admission of wrongdoing." 613 N.W.2d at 236 (emphasis in original). Instead, the settlement

2 The McClure Court reversed a judgment on punitive damages and remanded on that issue given the improperly
admitted evidence. Id. at 237 .

3
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Id.was '"motivated by a desire for peace rather than from a concession of the merits.

(emphasis added) (quoting Am. Jur. 2nd).

In this case, Dr. Otoadese and the Board resolved the dispute represented by the Board's

> 55

charges. There was no hearing. There was no finding or admission of professional negligence or

incompetence. There was a settlement. See Board Order at 1 (citing Iowa Code §272C.3(4)

which provides licensing boards have authority to settle a matter with a licensee). Plaintiffs

cannot unilaterally convert a settlement of disputed charges into an adverse finding or an

admission of incompetence. Attempting to do so is also completely inconsistent with the public

policy favoring settlement of controversies3 and Rule of Evidence 5.408.

In sum, the Iowa Supreme Court has decided how a district court is to view a licensing

board's statement of charges and settlement agreement. Charges are "assertions of wrongdoing"

which have not been proven and a settlement agreement is not a "concession of the merits" nor

an admission. Plaintiffs' suggestion that they were denied an "admission of professional

incompetence" and that Dr. Otoadese may have testified untruthfully because he had admitted

incompetence lacks all merit. The charges and settlement agreement are irrelevant (even if they

had pre-dated trial in this case) and there was no admission.

B. The Board Order was entered post-trial.

The second threshold problem is that the Board's Order was approved April 12, 2019

over five weeks after the verdict in this case on March 5, 2019. The Board made its Order

public on April 19, 2019—over six weeks after the verdict. As explained further below, under

Iowa law this public information is all that ever would have been available to Plaintiffs as all

3 «The law favors settlement of controversies and, accordingly, 'we have long held that voluntary settlements of legal
disputes should be encouraged, with the terms of settlement not inordinately scrutinized.'" Fees v Mutual Fire & Auto.
Ins. Co., 490 N.W.2d 55, 58 (Iowa 1992) (citing Wright v. Scott, 410 N.W.2d 247, 249 (Iowa 1987).

4
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other Board evidence is privileged.4 And, if it had been available before trial, it would have

been inadmissible. But it was not available until after the trial was completed in this matter. It

cannot support a new trial.

There was no "misconduct" during discovery.II.

The interrogatory is multi-part, asking initially about discipline, statements of charges,

letters of warning, or investigations and then, in more detail, asking about licensure

suspensions, revocations, terminations, or restrictions. Counsel objected to the interrogatory as

seeking information protected by statutory peer review privileges (which was a proper objection

as explained below) and then stated "without waiving and subject to these objections, Defendant

states no." Counsel did not accurately read the entire list of subjects in the interrogatory and

mistakenly answered "no." This was counsel's error, not Dr. Otoadese's. Given activity that

could be interpreted as an "investigation," Counsel should have either only objected or

alternatively could have stated "without waiving and subject to these objections, see any

information that is publicly available or may become publicly available in the future." Given

the misreading of the interrogatory, counsel did not supplement or amend the answer. The

undersigned represents to the Court that the answer was in no way an intentional or deliberate

5attempt to mislead Plaintiffs or the Court. It was a mistake.

Defendants respectfully submit the Interrogatory Answer does not represent

"misconduct" to support a new trial. In a case cited by Plaintiffs, Loehr v. Mettille, 806 N.W.2d

4See Iowa Code §272C.6(4) ("all complaint files, investigation files, other investigation reports, and other
investigative information in the possession of a licensing board . . .are privileged and confidential").

5 In the event Plaintiffs suggest that defense counsel intentionally set out to be misleading or inaccurate,
Defendants respectfully remind the Court of the offer of proof of Dr. Halloran where it was made clear that his
initial testimony elicited by Plaintiffs' counsel to support Plaintiffs' argument that Dr. Halloran was a treating
physician was misleading, if not inaccurate. On cross, Dr. Halloran testified that he "absolutely" did not consider
himself to be a treating physician before coming to the courthouse the day of his testimony. See Exh. 3 attached to
Defendants' Resistance to Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial at 12:11-13:10 (rough draft of Halloran offer of proof).

5
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270 (Iowa 201 1), the Iowa Supreme Court addressed allegations of counsel misconduct and

whether the conduct caused prejudice. The Court found neither and reversed the district court's

grant of a new trial. See 806 N.W.2d at 271.

In Loehr, the defense attorney presented an exhibit during trial which was discovered

later to be something other than represented to the jury. 806 N.W.2d at 275-76. The plaintiff

asserted there was misconduct, warranting a new trial. Instead of finding there was an

intentional and deliberate wrongdoing to mislead the jury, the Supreme Court found there was

an understandable error. 806 N.W.2d at 279-80 (describing issue as caused by "careless reading

and wishful thinking"). The Court declined to disbelieve counsel's explanation of the error and

found that it was "implausible" for counsel to have intentionally acted to mislead given that the

error could be easily found out. See id. at 280 ("if one were going to fabricate an exhibit ... it

seems implausible [to leave information that would disclose the issue]"). The Court found an

"absence of real misconduct." Id. at 271.

Similarly, in this case, to find "misconduct" the Court would have to disbelieve the

undersigned's explanation and find defense counsel intentionally set out to provide inaccurate

discovery responses.6

The undersigned respectfully submits that there was a mistake—not misconduct.

III. Plaintiffs cannot show prejudice—Board investigative information is not
discoverable and not admissible.

Even when there is a finding of misconduct to support a motion for new trial, the Court

must still find it caused prejudice in order to grant a new trial. See Loehr, 806 N.W.2d at 280

("Even if there had been misconduct, we cannot agree it prejudiced the Loehrs."); Mays v. C.

Mac Chambers Co., 490 N.W.2d 800, 803 (Iowa 1992) (" 'unless it appears probable a different

6 Determining whether there was "misconduct" is a matter within the Court's discretion. Loehr, 806 N.W.2d at 277 .

6
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result would have been reached but for claimed misconduct of counsel for the prevailing party,'

we are not warranted in granting a new trial").

In order to show prejudice, Plaintiffs must establish they would have been allowed to

discover and introduce evidence about the Board investigation. These issues—matters of

discovery, the admissibility of evidence, and the presence of prejudice—are matters of

discretion. See Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 886 (Iowa 1996) ("The district court is

vested with wide discretion in rulings on discovery matters."); Graber v. City ofAnkeny, 616

N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000) (admissibility of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion);

Mays, 490 N.W.2d at 803 ("Furthermore, we have held that the trial court 'has considerable

discretion in determining whether alleged misconduct, if there was such, was prejudicial.'" )

Another threshold applicable legal principle concerns the impact of a privilege on the

scope of discovery and the admissibility of evidence. See Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 886-

87 (Iowa 1996) (rejecting narrow reading of peer review privilege); Chung v. Legacy Corp., 548

N.W.2d 147, 151(Iowa 1996)(applying physician-patient privilege at Iowa Code §622.10 to

protect information, "We recognize our holding will preclude discovery and admission of

relevant evidence. That fact, however, is no reason not to apply the privilege . . ."); Id. (quoting

Midler v. Rogers, 534 N.W.2d 724, 726 (Minn. App. 1995), '"the rules of privilege codify

policy determinations that certain relationships and situations are deserving of protection, even

if crucial information is thereby withheld.'").

Board investigative information is privileged, not discoverable, and not
admissible—Plaintiffs would not have been entitled to discovery on this
subject.

A.

Plaintiffs acknowledge that Board of Medicine activities are confidential. See

Supplemental Motion at 3-4 (citing Iowa Code §272C.6(4)); id. note 2 (stating "The only

7
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information belonging to the Board of Medicine that is not confidential would be the statement

of charges and settlement agreement."). Plaintiffs are correct. Iowa law provides strong

confidentiality protection to all Board of Medicine activity leading up to any publicly filed

material. See Iowa Code §272C.6(4) ("all complaint files, investigation files, other

investigation reports, and other investigative information in the possession of a licensing board

. . . which relates to licensee discipline are privileged and confidential, and are not subject to

discovery, subpoena, or other means of legal compulsion for their release to a person other than

the licensee and the boards, . . . and are not admissible in evidence"); see also 653 IAC 24.2(8)

(re confidentiality of investigative information).

And the Board strictly adheres to the privileged nature of investigations. The Board's

web site includes a consumer brochure, stating:

The Iowa Board of Medicine is required by state law to maintain the
confidentiality of all information related to Board investigations. This includes

complaints and investigative reports. Consequently, complainants cannot receive
information or be briefed on any aspect of the investigation or how the case is

resolved beyond what is presented in public documents about the case.

7
Feb. 20, 2015 Press Release with Consumer Guide attached.

In light of the impenetrable privilege afforded Board activity other than publicly filed

information, Plaintiffs argue that the privilege "does not extend to the licensee (Dr. Otoadese)."

Supplemental Motion at 4. Plaintiffs then suggest Dr. Otoadese could have been forced to

disclose details about the Board's investigation such as allegations, investigation status, and

investigation witnesses. Id. In other words, Plaintiffs argue that a patient in a medical

malpractice action could obtain Board investigative information pertaining to a defendant

physician by simply propounding discovery to the physician, notwithstanding that the

7 Available at https://medicalboard.iowa.gov/z-index-0 (last accessed May 4, 20 1 9).

8
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information is not discoverable from the Board. This, of course, completely eviscerates the

statutory privilege and there are many reasons why Plaintiffs would not have been permitted to

obtain information from Dr. Otoadese that they could not obtain from the Board.

Plaintiffs cite no case in which a court allowed a party to skirt a statutory peer review

privilege by seeking privileged material from the professional who was subject to the peer

review.8 However, in Hall v. Broadlawms Med. Ctr., 81 1 N.W.2d 478 (Iowa 2012), the Court

acknowledged the problems with the "possession" language in Iowa Code §272C.6(4) which

protects "information in the possession of a licensing board." The Court observed: "Atfirst

blush , it may appear that the statute only protects information 'in the possession of a licensing

board or peer review committee.'" Id. at 482-83 (emphasis added). The Court continued that

"the interpretation of the statute based on possession is problematic" and it approved an

argument that protection "runs with the information" as opposed to the possessor. Id. at 483.

The Broadlawns Court discussed the compelling position that it would defeat the public policy

behind peer review protections if information protected in the hands of a peer review

committee could, as a matter of course, be obtained from others—such as the subject

physician. Id. at 483-84; see also id. at 484 ("the mere fact that a copy of [peer review] is

Other courts have addressed whether peer review information in the hands of physicians was discoverable. See
Hillsborough County Hosp. v. Lopez, 678 So. 2d 408 (Fla. Ct. App. 1996) (finding hospital's disclosure of peer
review information to treating physicians did not defeat the privilege and render information admissible); Ngci Le
v. Stea, 286 A.D. 2d 939 (S.C. App. Div. N.Y. 200 1 )(finding no waiver of peer review privilege because there "was no

intentional relinquishment of the privilege" when hospital shared report with one of the physicians involved in the
plaintiffs care and subject to the peer review); Young v. Saldanha, 43 1 S.E.2d 669, 67 1 , 674, fn.2 (W.Va. 1 993)(fact
that physician reviewed own peer review (as allowed under the statute) did not defeat privilege in medical
malpractice case); Columbia Park Med. Center v. Gibbs, 723 So. 2d 294, 295 (Fla. Ct. App. 1999)(hospital's
disclosure of privileged documents concerning physician privileges to physicians who were not on peer review
committee did not defeat privilege).

9
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possessed by a third party should not be determinative of the privilege issue if the privilege is

to have any substance"). 9

Under the Broadlawns reasoning, Board investigative information is no more

discoverable from Dr. Otoadese than it is from the Board. See also Cawthorne v. Catholic

Health Initiatives, 743 N.W.2d 525, 528 (Iowa 2007) (§272C.6(4) "should protect the source

of information as well as the person being investigated ') (emphasis added).

Further, to allow a plaintiff in a medical malpractice case to discover Board investigative

information from the physician would defeat the purpose for statutory peer review privileges.

The purpose of the Board privilege is described in the statute: "In order to assure a free flow of

information," See §272C.6(4)(a). If Board investigative information is allowed to be discovered

from the physician for use in civil litigation, it would chill the free flow of information. In

finding a broad peer review privilege in Iowa Code §147.135(2), the Iowa Supreme Court has

emphasized the chilling effect on the desired goal of medical evaluation if peer review

documents are used in civil litigation. "Peer review privileges encourage an effective review of

medical care. . . . Without broad protections, physicians would be very reluctant to participate,

knowing the information could easily be revealed in a court of law." Carolcm , 553 N.W. 2d at

886-87 \ see also Bredice v. Doctor's Hospital, 50 F.R.D. 249, 250 (D.D.C. 1970).

As Justice Appel discussed in Broadlawns, the privilege can be viewed as running with

the "information" not the possessor. Some courts view it as protecting the process. It would

defeat peer review privileges to allow a plaintiff to circumvent the privilege meant to foster the

"free flow of information" and obtain privileged information from the subject of the process-

the affected licensee. See, e.g., Marshall v. Planz, 145 F. Supp.2d 1258, 1273-74 (M.D. Ala.

9 The Broadlawns Court found the records at issue were not privileged but the records were in the hands of a third
party and were created for a purpose independent of the licensing board's investigation. See 8 1 1 N.W. 2d at 844-45

10
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2001) ("The peer review privilege exists to protect the interests of not just one person but rather

the entire peer review process (which exists not just for physicians but rather to improve the

quality of medical care for all) and all those involved, including peer review committees,

physicians who participate in them, and others who fall under its protection; it is personal not to

one particular person but rather to the entire process and all those involved as a group")

(emphasis in original).

Adding to the list of reasons why Plaintiffs would not have been allowed the discovery

they suggest is the fact it would involve the confidential and privileged medical information of

non-parties. The Board evidence pertains to five patients. See Board Order. Thus, it necessarily

implicates the privacy interests of non-parties. Those non-party patients did not consent to their

medical information being made part of this case. Their identity and medical information is

safely protected in the hands of the Board. However, under Plaintiffs' suggestion Board

investigative information (which would include the identity and medical information of non

parties) was discoverable from Dr. Otoadese. The physician-patient privilege separately

protects such non-party information and would defeat an attempt by Plaintiffs to discovery

Board information from Dr. Otoadese.10 In addition, Dr. Otoadese would be unable to fully

respond to the Board evidence given the confidential and separately privileged medical

information involving nonparty patients.

For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiffs would not have been allowed discovery on

Board of Medicine activity regardless of the answer to the interrogatory. In addition, the

evidence would also not have been admissible at trial as discussed below. Thus, any discovery

10 See, e.g., Iowa Code §622.10; Head v. Collolon, 331 N.W.2d 870, 876 (Iowa 1 983)(recognizing patient's right
to privacy in the context of medical information and their identity, based upon the constitution, common law, and
the fiduciary duty owed by the provider; and physician and hospital's duty to safeguard privacy); 45 CFR 164. 502
(Health Insurance Portability Act (H1PAA) prohibition against disclosure of protected information).

11
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would not be reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. See Rule

1.503(1).

B. Even if disclosed to Plaintiffs in discovery, any Board investigation
information and any pending charges and settlement agreement would have
been inadmissible at trial.

The Board Order was dated after trial (April 12, 2019). Thus, any activity leading up to

that April 12, 2019 Order would have been in the nature of Board investigative information

and such information is not admissible. See Iowa Code §272C.6(4).

Assuming without conceding that Plaintiffs would have been entitled to learn in

discovery that there was activity in the Board of Medicine prior to trial, that in no way supports

the jury would have heard this information. The Iowa Supreme Court has held: "We hold that

[§]272C.6(4) prohibits admission of [Board] investigative evidence and that introduction of the

IBME investigation . . . was improper." Cawthorne v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 743 N.W.2d

525, 528 (Iowa 2007) (remanding case for new trial given trial court erroneous admission of

Board investigative information; noting §272C.6(4) contains an "express prohibition from

admission.").1 1 The second time the Supreme Court ruled on Cawthorne, it clarified that a

disclosure of statutorily privileged peer review in discovery did nothing to impact the

inadmissibility of the privileged information. See Cawthorne v. Catholic Health Initiatives,

806 N.W.2d 282, 289-90 (Iowa 201 1) (addressing Iowa Code §147. 135(2), 12 finding the

separate bar against admissibility cannot be waived).

In Cawthorne, the physician had waived his right to confidentiality, yet the Iowa Supreme Court found such a
waiver did not defeat the statute's prohibition against admission. See 743 N.W.2d at 527-28.

12 Like Iowa Code §272C.6(4), Iowa Code §147.135(2) provides that peer review records "are privileged and
confidential, are not subject to discovery, subpoena, or other means of legal compulsion for release to a person
other than an affected licensee or a peer review committee and are not admissible in evidence . . . ." See Iowa Code
§147.135(2) (protecting "all complaint files, investigative files, reports, and other investigative information relating
to licensee discipline or professional competence in the possession of a peer review committee or an employee of a
peer review committee.").

12
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Further, Board evidence would have also been inadmissible under Rules 5.402, 5.403,

5.404(b), and 5.408. Even if Plaintiffs had learned of the presence of an investigation and the

possibility of future public information from the Board—it would not have been admissible.

Plaintiffs tried unsuccessfully to admit similarly unfairly prejudicial evidence against

Dr. Otoadese including the circumstances under which Dr. Otoadese left a prior professional

clinic (Cedar Valley Specialists) which involved a lawsuit and settlement and circumstances

under which Dr. Otoadese stopped doing open heart surgery at Allen Hospital which involved a

lawsuit, settlement, and privileging issues. The Court correctly excluded the evidence. Any

Board-related evidence would have been treated no differently.

Rule 5. 402. As discussed above the Board "charges" proved nothing and are merely

unproven assertions of wrongdoing and the settlement agreement cannot be interpreted as an

admission or concession of wrongdoing. The Board evidence is irrelevant. See McClure, 613

N.W.2d at 236-37.

Rule 5. 403. While the McClure Court did not exclude board evidence under Rule 5.403

because it found the evidence was not relevant, it clearly acknowledged its prejudicial character.

See McClure, 613 N.W.2d at 237 (noting the inherently prejudicial nature of evidence of

licensing board charges as the "tone of the charges conveys an atmosphere of criminality"); see

also CciM'thorne, 743 N.W.2d at 528 (finding the impact of improper admission of Board

investigative information was "so great" as to require a new trial); Bray v. Hill, 517 N.W.2d

223, 225-226 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994) (affirming trial court's exclusion of physician's

probationary status as more prejudicial than probative under Rule 5. 403).

In King v. Ahrens, 16 F.3d 265 (8th Cir. 1994), a medical malpractice plaintiff attempted

to introduce evidence that the defendant's medical license had actually been suspended (not the

13
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case here) eight years earlier. Id. at 268. The plaintiff in King sought to introduce the evidence

for impeachment. In affirming the trial court's exclusion of the evidence under Federal Rule

403, the Eighth Circuit found the "danger of unfair prejudice is substantial and immediately

apparent" as the "license suspension by its very nature reflects badly" on the physician. Id. at

269. In King, there was a "great danger" the jury would use the evidence of administrative

action13 to improperly infer that the defendant's conduct in that case was improper. See id. at

14
270.

Further, the Board Order indicates it concerns five patients from 2009-2014. Thus, the

evidence would necessarily concern patient incidents that are unrelated to, and disconnected

from, the facts giving rise to this case. Evidence of other patient incidents and suits, is not

relevant, is highly prejudicial, and should not be admitted. See, e.g., Lai v. Sagle, 818 A. 2d 237,

247-48 (Ct. App. Md. 2003).

The fact of prior litigation has little, if any, relevance to whether [the
physician] violated the applicable standard of care in the immediate case. The
admission of evidence of prior suits, instead of aiding the fact finder in its
quest, tends to excite its prejudice and mislead it. . . .[We] cannot conceive of
a more damaging event, in a medical malpractice trial, than disclosure to the
jury in opening argument that the defendant doctor had previously been sued
multiple times for malpractice.

Few subjects are more prejudicial than evidence of governmental penalties or sanctions. See Gehl by Reed v.
Soo Line R. Co. , 967 F.2d 1204, 1208 (8th Cir. 1992) (affirming exclusion of a government safety assessment,
"There is a danger that government reports, even if not particularly probative, will nonetheless sway the jury by
their 'aura of special reliability and trustworthiness.'"); Firemen's Fund Ins. Co. v. Thein, 63 F.3d 754, 758-59( 8th
Cir. 1995) (Federal Aviation Administration reports and investigation would be highly prejudicial as "very likely
would cause a jury to feel hostility toward [the defendant]").

14 See also State of Iowa v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 10-11 (Iowa 2005) (evidence is unfairly prejudicial when it
appeals to the jury's sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, provokes its instinct to punish, or triggers other

mainsprings of human action that may cause a jury to base its decision on something other than the established
propositions in the case'"); State of Iowa v. Langley, 2005 WL 1965866 at * 5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005) (evidence is
unfairly prejudicial if it '"would cause the jury to base its decision on something other than the proven facts and
applicable law, such as sympathy for one party or a desire to punish a party'"); Estate of Long v. Broadlawns
Medical Center, 656 N.W.2d 71,91 (Iowa 2002) (affirming exclusion of information as unfairly prejudicial under
Rule 5.403 even though it "may have been relevant" to the issue of future damages).

(U

14
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818 A.2d at 247. This argument applies equally to prior licensing actions arising from other

patients.

Evidence regarding the Board activity involving other patients would have led to the

trial of collateral issues. Dr. Otoadese could have been forced to simultaneously defend -- or at

the minimum explain -- the Board charges involving five patients.15

Even if there had been an actual adverse finding by the Board (which there was not), it

would have been inadmissible as unfairly prejudicial. In State v Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531 (Iowa

2013), the Court reversed a conviction for child endangerment because a DHS caseworker was

allowed to testify that a child abuse report had been determined as "founded." Even though the

child abuse report arose out of the very same underlying facts as the proceeding at issue in

Huston , the Court found the evidence irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. Id. at 537-38. As the

Court held:

Telling the jury [about the DHS administrative finding] was unfairly prejudicial
due to the risk the jury would substitute [that] determination for its own finding of
guilt or would give the determination undue weight.

Id. at 539. 16 Similarly, allowing Plaintiffs in this case to present evidence about any Board

activity—even the fact of the charges—would create the very real possibility that the jury would

substitute the professional charges for its determination of a breach of the standard or would

See Top ofIowa Cooperative v. Schewe, 135 F.Supp. 2d 969, 975 (N.D. Iowa 2001)(excluding evidence of other
lawsuits involving similar grain contracts, finding that each case is dependent upon its own circumstances and that
evidence of other claims "presents the serious potential for confusion and for decisions on an improper basis.");
Firemen's Fund v. Thien, 63 F.3d 754, 758-59 (8th Cir. 1 995)(citation omitted) (evidence would require "extended,
and irrelevant, litigation [on the collateral issue], and thus would confuse the jury and waste their time and the
court's."); Coast-to-Coast Stores, Inc. v. Womack-Bowers, Inc., 818 F. 2d 1398, 1404 (8th Cir. 1987)(agreeing that
if "other acts" were admitted, the defendant would have the right "to introduce rebuttal evidence . . . confusing the
issues and wasting the time of the court and jury."); Easley v. American Greetings Corp., 158 F.3d 974, 977 (8th
Cir. 1998) (affirming exclusion of evidence that "would have opened the door to the introduction of evidence on
collateral issues").

16 The Court cited multiple civil cases and specifically held that the evidence would not have been admissible even
with a limiting or cautionary instruction about the lower burden of proof applicable in the DHS proceeding. Id. at
538-39.

15
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give the evidence undue weight. The Huston Court recognized the danger when evidence from a

"purportedly unbiased state agency" is introduced. Id. at 537-38. The appearance of official

approval is unfairly prejudicial. Id.

Rule 5. 404(b). Board evidence would also be inadmissible under Iowa Rule of

Evidence 5.404(b), under which a party cannot introduce character evidence or evidence of

"other wrongs or acts" to prove that a person acted in conformity therewith.

The Iowa Supreme Court's discussion of the great danger when "other acts" are

admitted into evidence in State v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5 (Iowa 2005) is instructive. The

Court reversed a conviction based on the prejudice caused by the admission of prior acts. While

the majority affirmed that a prior marijuana conviction was relevant, the Court still held the

district court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence as it was too prejudicial. Id. at 1 1 -

12.

The following factors apply to the analysis of the admission of other act evidence:

"(1) the actual need for the evidence in view of the issues and other available evidence,
(2) whether there is clear proof showing the other [acts] were committed by the accused,
(3) the strength or weakness of the prior-acts evidence in supporting the issue sought to

be proven, and
(4) the degree to which the jury will probably be improperly influenced by the

evidence."

696 N.W.2d at 11. The Henderson Court found the second and third factors supported

admission in that case and still found the evidence should not have been introduced. Id.

Factor 1: In this medical malpractice case, there would be no need for evidence of

pending "charges," a pending "settlement," or information about the care and treatment of five

patients (when this case involved one patient). As set forth above, such Board evidence is not

relevant—charges prove nothing and settlements with licensing boards are not admissions. Nor

did this case involve the care of any patient other than Mr. McGrew.

16
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Factors 2 and 3: Here, the "other acts" were not proven at all—much less clearly

proven. They were merely assertions of wrongdoing. And in order to determine the strength or

weakness of the other acts, there would have to be a trial within a trial—or five trials within this

trial—as to each of the five patient situations.

Factor 4: As in Henderson, the "degree to which the jury will probably be improperly

influenced" would compel exclusion of any Board evidence:

When prior acts evidence is introduced, regardless of the stated purpose, the
likelihood is very great that the jurors will use the evidence precisely for the
purpose it may not be considered: to suggest that the defendant is a bad
person . . . and that if he did it before he probably did it again.

696 N.W.2d at 12 (citation and internal quotations omitted); id at 13 ("It would be extremely

difficult for jurors to put out of their minds knowledge [of the prior acts] and not allow this

information to consciously or subconsciously influence their decision."); see also id. at 14 (J.

Lavorato, concurring)("a defendant must be tried for what he did, not for who he is.")(citations

and internal quotations omitted).

Rule 5. 408. The Board activity involves settlement—inadmissible under rule 5.408. See

also McClure, 613 N.W.2d at 236.

IV. Conclusion.

The April 12, 2019 Board of Medicine Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement

was entered by the Board nearly five weeks after the verdict in this case. The charges constitute

unproven assertions and the settlement resolved contested issues. There was no finding or

admission of professional incompetence. While defense counsel mistakenly responded to

discovery on this subject, it caused no prejudice to Plaintiffs. Any evidence other than that made

public by the Board (here, after the trial of the case) is privileged, not discoverable, and not

17
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admissible. Licensing board evidence -including investigations, charges, and settlements

have been held by the Iowa Supreme Court to be inadmissible.

For the reasons set forth above, Defendants respectfully request that the Court deny

• • f /Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion for a new trial in its entirety. / ) A
/ 1 f-*"
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 

 
WILLIAM MCGREW AND ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
    Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D.; AND 
NORTHERN IOWA CARDIOVASCULAR 
AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C., 
 
    Defendants. 

 
LACV130355 
 
 
 
 
ORDER 

 

 
This matter came before the Court for purposes of hearing on post-trial 

motions on April 17, 2019, and again on July 29, 2019.  For purposes of hearing on 

post-trial motions, the Plaintiffs appeared through counsel, Martin Diaz.  The 

Defendants appeared through counsel, Jennifer Rinden.   

An Order for Judgment in favor of the Defendant was entered on March 7, 

2019, following a jury trial.  A Motion for New Trial was filed on March 7, 2019.  

That Motion was resisted by Resistance filed March 20, 2019.  A Reply to that 

Resistance was filed on March 21, 2019.  The Court then proceeded with a hearing 

on post-trial motions on April 17, 2019.  However, before the Court could rule on 

the post-trial motions, Plaintiffs filed a Supplemental Motion for New Trial on April 

22, 2019, raising additional issues.  That Motion was supplemented by Plaintiffs on 

April 29, 2019.  That Motion was resisted on May 6, 2019.  On May 7, 2019, the 

Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Leave to File Supplemental Motion for New Trial and a 

Reply to the Resistance to the Supplemental Motion for New Trial.  A Resistance to 

the Plaintiffs’ Motion for Leave to File Supplemental Motion for New Trial was filed 

on May 7, 2019.  All pending Motions came before the Court for hearing on July 29, 

2019.   
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Plaintiffs’ Motion for New Trial filed March 7, 2019, alleged three primary 

grounds for a new trial:  1. the trial court should have permitted the testimony of 

Dr. John Halloran; 2. the trial court should have permitted the complete testimony 

of Dr. Ivo Bekavac; and 3. the trial court should have permitted the Plaintiffs to 

question the Defendant, Dr. Otoadese, concerning his loss of privileges to perform 

certain surgery and his termination from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists in 2012.   

With regard to this Motion for New Trial, Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1004 

requires that the Plaintiffs must establish that the court abused its discretion and 

that the substantial rights of the moving party were materially affected as a result.  

Abuse of discretion is the standard used in considering a court’s ruling on the 

admission of a treating physician’s testimony.  Hansen vs. Central Iowa Hospital 

Corp., 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004).  A court is deemed to have abused its 

discretion only if its decision was based on a ground or reason that is clearly 

untenable or when the court’s discretion was exercised to a clearly unreasonable 

degree.  Cite Pexa vs. Auto Owners, 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004).   

In support of their Motion for New Trial on the basis of the exclusion of the 

testimony of Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, the Plaintiffs argue that these physicians 

were disclosed in compliance with Code of Iowa Section 66A.11 and that the 

proposed opinions of these experts were fully disclosed through the medical records 

of these physicians that were produced through discovery and through Answers to 

Interrogatories relating to treating physicians.  The Plaintiffs, therefore, argue that 

the treating physicians were fully disclosed and their expected opinions fully 

provided through full compliance with Code of Iowa Section 66A.11 and Iowa Rule 

of Civil Procedure 1.508.  The Defendants argue that the designation of these two 

physicians as experts was provided through the identification of these physicians as 

“treating physicians” rather than experts retained for purposes of trial and that the 

Plaintiffs never provided signed expert reports for either physician.  For these 

reasons, the Defendants argue that the testimony of these two physicians should be 
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limited to only knowledge and opinions held by these physicians as a result of the 

treatment and care of the Plaintiff and not with regard to standard of care or 

causation for purposes of this malpractice proceeding. 

Each party extensively cites Hansen vs. Central Iowa Hospital Corp. as 

supportive of the position they took both at trial as well as in the course of post-trial 

motions.  During the course of trial, the Court allowed an offer of proof with regard 

to each of the two treating physicians at issue, conducted extensive hearings with 

the parties concerning the potential admissibility of the opinions sought by the 

Plaintiffs, and also issued a formal ruling on the record concerning the admissibility 

of the expected testimony of these witnesses.  This ruling included the Court’s 

analysis and application of the Hansen decision to the issue during the course of 

trial.  This Court relies on and incorporates the ruling made by the Court during the 

course of trial concerning the issue of the testimonies of Dr. Bekavac and Dr. 

Halloran.  This Court continues to believe that the evidentiary determination made 

during the course of trial is correct under Hansen and is also correct under the Iowa 

Rules of Civil Procedure and the Code of Iowa.  This Court is not persuaded on the 

Motion for New Trial that the Court’s determination concerning the testimonies of 

Drs. Bekavac and Halloran was an abuse of discretion.  Further, this Court 

incorporates the arguments made by the Defendants in Resistance to Motion for 

New Trial concerning the fact that even if the Court abused its discretion, the 

substantial rights of the Plaintiffs were not martially affected as a result of the ruling 

in light of the testimony that was permitted through Dr. Bekavac and the 

accompanying exhibits, as well as the testimony of the Plaintiffs’ retained expert.   

As concerns the Plaintiffs’ other allegation of error concerning the 

admissibility of testimony and evidence surrounding Dr. Otoadese’s loss of privileges 

and termination of his relationship with Cedar Valley Medical Specialists, the Court 

relies upon the rulings and analyses made on the record during the course of trial 

and declines to find that either an abuse of discretion occurred or that the Plaintiffs 
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were materially affected as a result of the rulings.  The various evidence offered by 

the Plaintiffs concerning the ending of the relationship between Dr. Otoadese and 

Cedar Valley Medical Specialists, as well as Dr. Otoadese’s privileges was not 

relevant to the issues to be decided by the jury in the present case and, further, 

even if relevant, had prejudicial effect that far exceeded any probative value that 

that evidence might provide.  For the reasons stated above, the Plaintiffs’ original 

Motion for New Trial will be denied. 

As indicated, while this Court had the Motion for New Trial originally under 

advisement, the Plaintiffs filed a Supplemental Motion for New Trial on April 22, 

2019.  The Motion is brought pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1004 

concerning new trials.  The basis of the Supplemental Motion for New Trial 

concerned a press release issued by the Iowa Board of Medicine on April 19, 2019, 

indicating that Defendant, Dr. Otoadese, had reached an agreement with the Iowa 

Board of Medicine relating to five complaints of professional incompetence occurring 

between 2009 and 2014.  The specifics concerning the complaints are not revealed 

in the Board of Medicine documents nor are specific patients identified and, 

therefore, it is impossible for the Plaintiffs or for this Court to know if the Board 

action involves the Plaintiffs herein.   

The Plaintiffs argue that based upon the knowledge gained from the press 

release by the Iowa Board of Medicine, that the Defendants engaged in irregularity 

in the proceeding before the Court or misconduct of the prevailing party by failing to 

disclose, supplement, or correct his Answer to Interrogatory No. 7 which had asked 

him to disclose whether he had ever been disciplined, had received a statement of 

charges or letter of warning, or had been investigated by a licensing board.  The 

Plaintiffs go on to argue that the Plaintiffs were prejudiced by the Defendants’ 

failure to disclose or supplement the Interrogatory answer.   

In the Supplemental Motion for New Trial, the Plaintiffs further argue that the 

Combined Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement represent an admission 
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by Dr. Otoadese that he was negligent or incompetent.  The Defendants resist this 

argument on the basis that the Iowa Board of Medicine’s Combined Statement of 

Charges and Settlement Agreement expressly states that it “constitutes the 

resolution of a contested case proceeding” without any specific admission of 

professional incompetence by Dr. Otoadese.   

The Plaintiffs maintain that the Statement of Charges and Settlement 

Agreement does indeed represent a concession of professional incompetence.  

Specifically, the Plaintiffs point to Paragraph 6 of the Statement of Charges and 

Settlement Agreement wherein Dr. Otoadese agrees to be cited for professional 

incompetency regarding all five patients that are the subject of the Statement of 

Charges.  The Plaintiffs point out that based upon the fact that the Iowa Board of 

Medicine does not identify the patients who are at issue in the Statement of Charges 

and Settlement Agreement, it is impossible for the Plaintiffs to know whether or not 

Paragraph 6 concerning professional incompetence relates specifically to the 

Plaintiffs in this matter as there is no way for the Plaintiffs to know, without 

information provided by either the Defendants or the Iowa Board of Medicine, the 

identity of the patients included in the Statement of Charges and Settlement 

Agreement.  The Plaintiffs point out that this issue becomes critical when viewed in 

light of the fact that Dr. Otoadese testified at the trial of this matter with regard to 

the standard of care and whether or not he believed he had breached that standard 

of care with regard to the Plaintiff.  If the Board inquiry and findings include the 

Plaintiff as a patient, an admission of professional incompetence in the Statement of 

Charges and Settlement Agreement would be in direct contradiction to the 

Defendant’s testimony at the trial of this matter.   

The Defendants cite the Supreme Court’s holding in McClure vs. Walgreen 

Co., 613 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2000) as supportive of its argument that a statement of 

charges and settlement documents should be inadmissible in a civil case involving, 

as a defendant, the subject of the examining board’s statement of charges.  The 
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Defendants further argue that the Iowa Board of Medicine’s Combined Statement of 

Charges and Settlement Agreement was not issued until after the trial in this matter.  

The Defendants argue that said evidence was not available at the time of trial and, 

therefore, cannot support a motion for new trial.  Further, the Defendants argue, 

even if the information which made its way into the Combined Statement of Charges 

and Settlement Agreement was available to the Defendants prior to the date of trial 

and had been provided to the Plaintiffs, said information would have been 

inadmissible under the holding of the McClure case and, therefore, no prejudice 

resulted to the Plaintiffs.   

In addition, counsel for the Defendants state that any error made in not 

responding to the inquiry of Interrogatory No. 7 into “investigations” lies with 

counsel for the Defendants on the basis that counsel did not accurately read the 

entire Interrogatory and mistakenly answered in the negative.  However, counsel 

points out that even if counsel had appropriately considered the use of the word 

“investigations” in the Interrogatory as giving rise to a response concerning the 

investigations which ultimately lead to the Combined Statement of Charges and 

Settlement Agreement, counsel’s only obligation in responding to the Interrogatory 

would have been to refer the Plaintiffs to any information that is publicly available or 

may become publicly available concerning any investigations.  The Defendants note 

that with regard to board reviews such as that involved here, Iowa law establishes 

that the only information that is made public is the fact that charges had been 

investigated and a settlement had been reached without publicly disseminating any 

information concerning the investigations.   

The Plaintiffs argue that although information held by the Board of Medicine 

is confidential and not for public dissemination, such confidentiality does not extend 

to or prevent questioning of Dr. Otoadese on the topic.  In response, the 

Defendants cite Hall vs. Broadlawns Medical Center, 811 N.W.2d 478 (Iowa 2012), 

as support for the argument that public policy would be defeated if information 
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protected in the hands of a board or peer review committee could be subject to 

discovery from a third party or the individual being reviewed.  The Defendants 

argue that Hall stands for the proposition that the privilege can be viewed as 

running with the information and not the possessor of the information and that the 

process itself should be protected.   

Finally, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Motion for New Trial 

was untimely under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1007, having been filed on April 

22, 2019.   

In response to the timeliness issue, the Plaintiffs point out that the press 

release concerning the Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement was not 

made by the Iowa Board of Medicine until April 19, 2019, and that the Plaintiffs filed 

the Supplemental Motion for New Trial on April 22, 2019, immediately upon learning 

of the press release.  The Plaintiffs argue that this information, which draws into 

question both misconduct by the Defendant, an admitted mistake by counsel for the 

Defendant in responding to interrogatory answers, as well as potentially 

contradictory testimony of the Defendant at the time of trial, constitutes good cause 

required by Rule 1.1007 to extend the timeframe permitted for the filing of a motion 

for new trial.   

This Court is constrained by the specific requirements of Rule 1.1007 

concerning the filing of a motion for new trial, as well as any extensions which may 

be granted.  Iowa Courts have strictly construed Rule 1.1007 and extensions 

thereof.  Iowa Courts have consistently held that motions requesting an extension of 

time for filing post-trial motions must be filed before the expiration of the original 

period for filing.  The Motion seeking leave to extend the deadline for filing in this 

matter for the Supplemental Motion for New Trial was not filed until May 7, 2019 

which is both after the filing of the Supplemental Motion for New Trial and outside 

the expiration of the original period for filing a new trial motion.   
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Without reaching a determination on the merits extended above, the Court 

finds that the Supplemental Motion for New Trial, as well as the Motion Seeking to 

Extend the Time to File the Supplemental Motion for New Trial were untimely and, 

therefore, the Court is without jurisdiction to address the issues raised in those 

Motions.  The Plaintiffs filed the post-trial motion under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 

1.1004 (new trial) and Rule 1.1007 (time for motions and exceptions). As a result, 

the Court can only rule on the Motion as presently presented as a Supplemental 

Motion for New Trial. 

For the reasons stated above, the Plaintiffs’ Motion for New Trial is DENIED.  

The Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Motion for New Trial is DENIED AS UNTIMELY.   
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IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY 
 
WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE 
MCGREW, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. 
and NORTHERN IOWA 
CARDIOVASCULAR AND 
THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, 
P.C. 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
NO. LACV130355 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 
 

TO:     Clerk of District Court for Black Hawk County, the Clerk of the 

Supreme Court, and to Counsel for Defendants. 

 Notice is given that Plaintiffs William and Elaine McGrew appeal to the 

Supreme Court of Iowa from the final order filed on December 8, 2019 and from 

all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein, including the adverse jury verdict 

and entry of adverse judgment.  

 Dated: December 26, 2019. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

_/s/ Martin A. Diaz________ 
MARTIN A. DIAZ 000009676 
ICIS AT0002000 
1570 Shady Ct. NW 
Swisher, IA 52338 
319-339-4350 telephone 
319-339-4426 facsimile 
marty@martindiazlawfirm.com  
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MARK L. CHIPOKAS PC 

 
                                          By: ___/s/ Mark L. Chipokas__________ 

                                                     Mark L. Chipokas, AT0001418 
                                                     866 First Avenue NE 
                                                     P.O. Box 1261 
                                                    Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-1261 
                                                    (319) 366-7888 
                                                    (888) 466-1350 Fax 
                                                     E-mail: mark@mlchipokaspc.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

              CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

     The undersigned certifies a copy of this notice of appeal was served on the 

26th day of December, 2019 upon the following persons and upon the clerk of the 

Supreme Court by EDMS (or by email upon the Court Reporters): 
 
Jennifer E. Rinden 
Shuttleworth & Ingersoll 
115 3rd St. SE, Suite 500 
Cedar Rapids, IA 52401 
JER@Shuttleworthlaw.com 
Attorney for Defendants 
 
Brittani Meyer                          
Court Reporter, First Judicial District                                                                                       
brittani.meyer@iowacourts.gov 
 
Amanda Lee 
Court Reporter, First Judicial District                                                                                       
amanda.lee@iowacourts.gov 
 
Clerk, Iowa Supreme Court 
Iowa Judicial Branch Bldg.   
1111 East Court Avenue 
Des Moines, IA 50319  
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  /S/Martin A. Diaz 
 ______________________ 
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Ivo Bekavac, MD, PhD 

Dept. of Neurology 

1753 W. Ridgeway Avenue 

Suite 112 

Waterloo; IA 50701 

319.833.5954 

FAX 319.833.5955 

September 26, 2014 

RE: William McGrew 
DOB: 

Cedar 
Valley 

Medical· 
SPECIALISTS.p.e 

Mr. William McGrew comes in self-referral as well as his family for second opinion about 
stroke. 

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: According to the patient and his family on August 5, 
2014 he had episode of visual problem, describes everything was greying on his eye lasting 
between one to two minutes. No associated weakness involving any part of his body. He was 
otherwise healthy except hypertension. He went to see Dr. Mauer, who send him to see Dr. 
Otoadese and CTA was done of the extracranial circulation on August 18,2014. It was read 
by Dr. Cammoun, who felt there was right ICA stenosis around 65%. I did review personally 
and showed to the patient and his daughter and son and my opinion stenosis of right ICA is 
approximately 40%. Subsequently Dr. Otoadese performed right carotid artery 
endarterectomy on September 2, 2014. Prior to the surgery patient was asymptomatic. He 
was not taking aspirin when this event occurred and was just started a week or so before the 
surgery. Extensive records reviewed around 60 pages. After surgery he was doing great and 
then very next morning around 7:10 it was noticed by nurse as well as his daughter the patient 
was confused and had left facial droop. Dr. Almullahassani, a neurologist was called who 
ordered CTA which apparently showed right ICA occlusion. CTA was done at 11 :05 and 
symptoms started around 7: 10 a.m. MRI of the brain showed acute right M2 territory 
ischemic infarct and some changes involving basal ganglia involving territory of the 
lenticulostriate arteries. Dr. Almullahassani requested second endarterectomy and clot 
removal. Apparently Dr. Otoadese was not willing to do so, but then Dr. Almullahassani 
according to the patient's daughter asked for opinion by Dr. Karimi, a vascular surgeon at 
Covenant Medical Center was about to transfer the patient, then finally Dr. Otoadese came 
back and performed right endarterectomy between 3:00 to 3:30 p.m. After the surgery the 
patient had complete weakness on the left side. Prior to that family is not sure whether he had 
any weakness involving his left hand at all. Also became confused and eyes were looking to 
the right side. He has been essentially the same since the second surgery. RepeatMRI done 
following day did reveal very similar area of infarction according to my review essentially 
unchanged from previous one done day before. The patient has been on aspirin for stroke 
prophylaxis 325 mg a day. Since the surgery he has been also complaining of lower back pain 
on the left side without shooting distally. No imaging of the lumbosacral spine. He has been 
doing stroke rehabilitation. 

REVIEW OF SYMPTOMS: Complete review of (14) systems and complete past medical 
and social history was performed using the Medical Questionnaire dated and signed 
September 26,2014. In addition to the above, no additional complaints. 
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William Mcgrew 
September 26,2014 
Page 2 

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Hypertension. 
SOCIAL HISTORY: He used to smoke one pack a day for 40 years, quit smoking 10 years ago. No 
alcohol. 
FAMILY HISTORY: Father died at the age of81 with myocardial infarction. Mother died at the age of 
63, ALS. 
ALLERGIES: None. 
PRESENT MEDICATIONS: Medications were reviewed and can be found on the patient information 
sheet located in the chart. 

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: He is well developed and in no apparent distress. 
Vitals: Blood pressure 120/84 with a heart rate of 78 and respiratory rate of 16. 
HEENT: Head is atraumatic and normocephalic. Funduscopic examination not performed because of 
miosis. The rest of the ENT exam is normal. 
Neck: Supple. No JVD and no carotid bruits. No lymphadenopathy. 
Heart: Regular rhythm and rate. No murmur. 
Lungs: Clear to auscultation and percussion. 
Abdomen: Not examined. 
Extremities: No clubbing, cyanosis or edema. 
NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION: 
Orientation: He was found to be awake, aleli, and oriented X3. 
Recent and Remote Memory: Normal. 
Attention Span and Concentration: Normal. 
Cranial Nerve exam: There is conjugate gaze preference to the right side, but he can pass midline all the 
way to the opposite side. No nystagmus. Rest of cranial remarkable for left facial weakness, central type 
except visual field not tested. 
Motor Exam: Motor strength in left upper and lower extremities is 0/5, right side 5/5. 
Sensory Exam: Intact to all modalities. 
Reflexes: Brisk on the right side 3/4, left 3+/4. Plantar response in the left side is extensor, right is flexor. 
Gait: He is in a wheelchair, unable to walk 
Language: Intact. 
Fund of Knowledge: Normal. 
Speech: Normal. 
Test of Coordination: Finger-to-nose and heel-to-shin normal. 

IMPRESSION: 
1. The patient suffered right hemispheric embolic infarct after endarterectomy and occlusion of right 

internal carotid artery. 
 

3. Right M2 territory embolic, aIiery-to-artery infarction. Not so much change in comparison to 
previous MRI of the brain. 

4. Lower back pain might be discogenic versus musculoskeletal in etiology. 

PLAN: 
1. Continue aspirin 325 mg a day for secondary stroke prophylaxis. 
2. Obtain an MRI of the lumbosacral spine. 
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William Mcgrew 
September 26~ 2014 
Page 3 

3. I will ask Dr. Halloran, neul'oradioiogist to review CTA because of discmpanoy between my l'eview 
and Dr. Cammoun review. Also we will ask him to review MRl done on September 3, 2014 and 
September 4, 2014. I encouraged the patient and his family to be very engaged in stroke 
rehabilitation. 

4. Reevaluate the patieI'lt in one 1110nth or earlier as needed. 
5. The patient will be notified as well as his family regarding MRI findings. 

6. Spent one hour with the patient and his family as well as reviewing records 
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McGrew, William M (MR # 92371812) DOB: 05/30/1945

Radiology Results (10/09/14 - 10/01/14) (continued)

Xray consultation referred [136743188] (continued) Resulted: 10/09/14 1426, Result status: Final result

MRI Lumbar spine wo contrast [136743186] Resulted: 10/01/14 1459, Result status: Final result

Ordering provider: Ivo Bekavac, MD  10/01/14 1303 Resulted by: John I Halloran, MD
Performed:  - 10/01/14 1423 Resulting lab: UPH ALLEN MEMORIAL SUNQUEST RAD
Narrative:

  Allen Memorial Hospital                    MRI Department
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M                         Order No:14AMR3576
    1532 HAWTHORNE ST                        PT. LOC:
    WATERLOO, IA 50702                       ADMIT HX:

    PHONE:
   ADMITTING DR: BEKAVAC,IVO MD              DOB: 
   ORDERING DR:   BEKAVAC,IVO MD             FIN#: 562501743
   ATTENDING DR:
   CC:                                       THIS COPY TO DR.
   MEDICAL RECORD NUMBER: 92371812           DOCUMENT STATUS: Final
                                            Exam Date:10/01/2014
   PROCEDURE(S):
          MR SPINE LUMBAR WO
          CONTRAST USUAL

   REASON FOR EXAM:low back pain

TECHNIQUE:  Multiplanar, multisequence imaging of the lumbar spine
performed.

CLINCAL HISTORY: see above REASON FOR EXAM

CORRELATION: None available.

FINDINGS:

L1-2 level: Negative

L2-3 level: Negative

L3-4 level: Slight disc space narrowing.  Very broad-based far right
lateral disc herniation.  Protruding disc fills inferior recess the
right neural foramen and closely approximates right L3 nerve.
Moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.  Mild spinal canal
stenosis.

L4-5 level: Moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy, grade I
spondylolisthesis, symmetric disc bulge, moderate disc space narrowing
and small endplate osteophytes.  Mild spinal canal and bilateral
neural foraminal stenosis.

L5-S1 level: Mild bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.

IMPRESSION:
1.  L3-4 level far right lateral disc herniation, mild spinal canal
stenosis and moderate bilateral degenerative facet arthropathy.
2.  L4-5 level degenerative facet arthropathy, spondylolisthesis, and
mild spinal canal and bilateral neural foraminal stenosis.

Signed by: John I Halloran MD on 10/1/2014 2:56 PM
 Report created with Powerscribe 360

   ALLEN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, WATERLOO IA.         PAGE 2 of 2
    MCGREW,WILLIAM M
    MR SPINE LUMBAR WO CONTR           DOCUMENT STATUS:  Final

Testing Performed By
Lab - Abbreviation Name Director Address Valid Date Range
49 - WLARAD UPH ALLEN MEMORIAL

SUNQUEST RAD
Unknown Waterloo IA 10/13/13 1803 - Present

Generated on 3/30/2016 11:42 AM Page 710

Specimen Collection
Type Source Collected On

10/01/14 1423
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AND FILING 

The undersigned certifies a copy of the Appendix was filed and served through the 

Electronic Document Management System on all counsel of record and the Clerk of 

Supreme Court. 

   _______/s/ Martin A. Diaz____ 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COST 

I further certify that, because of use of EDMS, there was no cost associated with 

the printing and reproduction of this Appendix. 

_________/s/ Martin A. Diaz__ 
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